




Annual Report 2009

01

Mandate, Mission, Vision and Core Values 02-03

Organisational Structure 04

The RIRF Team  05-07

Report by the Registrar 

	 •	 Introduction	 08-09

	 •	 Economic	Review	 10-12

	 •	 RIRF	Operations	 13-14

	 •	 Industry	Perspective	 15-19

	 •	 Legal,	Policy	and	Intervention	 20-22

	 •	 Industry	Financial	Overview	 23-40															

RIRF	Financial	Statements	 41-60

General	Information	 	 61																																																														

Page



Mandate
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MANDATE
The	Office	of	 the	Registrar	 of	 Insurance	 and	Retirement	Funds	 (RIRF)	was	 established	 in	
November	2006	through	the	Insurance	Act	of	2005	and	Retirement	Funds	Act	of	2005.	

Subject	to	the	provisions	of	these	Acts	the	functions	of	the	Registrar	are:

(a)	 To	supervise	and	exercise	control	over	the	activities	of	 insurers	and	retirement	
funds	in	terms	of	these	Acts	and	any	other	law	of	the	Kingdom	of	Swaziland;	and

(b)	 To	advise	the	Minister	on	matters	relating	to	insurance	services	and	retirement	
funds	either	of	his	own	accord	or	at	the	request	of	the	Minister.



VISION

The RIRF vision is:

To	 be	 the	 leading	 financial	 services	

regulatory authority in the SADC region, 

adhering to international best practice 

whilst	 contributing	 towards	 stakeholder	

confidence	 and	 economic	 growth	 in	

Swaziland.

MISSION

The RIRF mission is:

To	regulate	and	supervise	the	insurance	and	

retirement	funds	industries	whilst:

–	 Ensuring	 the	 development,	 stability	

and sustainability of the industries, 

encouraging	 creativity	 and	 innovation	

whilst	fostering	adequate	protection	for	

consumers;	

–	 Establishing	 a	 supervisory	 system	 that	

is	risk-responsive;

–	 Managing	and	minimising	systemic	risk	

and	 contributing	 towards	 combating	

financial	crime;

–	 Promoting	 compliance	 with	

international best practice standards 

and principles, including good 

corporate	governance;	and

–	 Establishing	 efficient	 and	 effective	

operational	 systems	 that	 will	 be	 of	

service	 to	 both	 internal	 and	 external	

stakeholders.	

 

CORE VALUES

The core values that guide us as we 

execute our mandate of supervision and 

regulation are:

•	 Integrity

•	 Confidentiality

•	 Accountability

•	 Teamwork

•	 Transparency

•	 Consistency

Vision, Mission, Core Values
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RIRF Organisational  Structure
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Finance and Administration Team

Legal, Policy and Intervention Team
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INTRODUCTION

I am pleased to present my second annual report 
since being appointed the Registrar of Insurance 
and	 Retirement	 Funds.	This	 report	 covers	 the	
period	1	April	2008	to	31	March	2009.	

Conditions for Effective Supervision 
The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and 
Retirement Funds (RIRF) subscribes to the 
insurance and retirement funds core principles 
as prescribed by the International Association 
of	 Insurance	 Supervisors	 (IAIS)	 as	 well	 as	
the	 International	 Organisation	 of	 Pensions	
Supervisors	 (IOPS).	 Insurance	 core	 principle	
(ICP)	 1	 prescribes	 that	 in	 order	 for	 our	 office	
to	be	effective	 in	 its	 supervision,	 the	 following	
conditions	must	be	in	place:

1. Legislation

Legislation	must	 be	 in	 place	 that	 provides	 for	
framework	 for	 supervision	 and	 that	 defines	
the	 powers,	 roles	 and	 responsibilities	 of	 the	
supervisor.	 The	 Insurance	 Act,	 2005	 and	
Retirement	Funds	Act,	2005	came	into	effect	in	
November	2006.	The	Insurance	Act	established	
the Office of the Registrar of Insurance and  

Retirement Funds and in terms of Section 22 
of	 the	 Act,	 charged	 the	 Registrar	 with	 the	
responsibility	to	supervise	and	exercise	control	
over	 the	 activities	 of	 insurers	 and	 retirement	
funds	 in	 Swaziland	 and	 to	 advise	 the	Minister	
of Finance on matters relating to insurance 
services	 and	 retirement	 funds	 and	 the	 general	
administration	 of	 the	 two	 Acts.	 Prior	 to	 the	
establishment of the RIRF, The Ministry of 
Finance	 was	 tasked	 with	 the	 responsibility	 of	
supervising	the	insurance	and	retirement	funds	
industries.	As	part	of	his	mandate,	the	Registrar	
is	expected	to	provide	guidance	to	participants	
in	 the	 industry	 concerning	 market	 conduct	
and	compliance	with	the	Acts	and	government	
policy,	 and	 to	 make	 recommendations	 to	 the	
Minister	 of	 Finance	 on	 the	 development	 of	
relevant	policies.	

2. Financial Stability

The core principles consider the fact that 
insurance contracts and retirement funds 
involve	promises	to	pay	consumers	in	the	future.	
Therefore,	 in	 order	 for	 the	 supervisor	 to	 be	
effective,	the	following	financial	factors	need	to	
be	monitored	closely:

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR 
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a. Inflation – defined as a sustained increase 
in	the	general	level	of	prices	of	goods	and	
services,	 inflation	 is	 a	 major	 risk	 factor	
in the insurance and retirements funds 
industries.	 For	 example,	 a	 long	 term	 life	
insurance	 policy	 involves	 the	 payment	 of	
premiums	over	extended	periods	of	time.	If	
such	payments	are	kept	fixed	until	maturity	
of the policy, they lose their capacity to 
cover	administrative	costs	and	the	benefits	
at	 the	end	of	 the	policy	will	have	 little	or	
no	 buying	 power,	 thus	 not	 providing	 the	
security	originally	intended.	Thus	effective	
supervision	 has	 to	 make	 sure	 that	 both	
consumers and regulated entities are 
adequately	 protected	 from	 the	 effects	 of	
inflation	 through	monitoring	 the	 product	
design,	pricing,	investment,	valuation,	and	
disclosure	practices	of	regulated	entities.

b. Currency fluctuations – Macroeconomic 
stability	 involves	other	elements	 in	addition	
to	inflation.	Movements	in	major	currencies	
such	as	the	Euro	and	U.S	Dollar	can	have	a	
serious impact on the financial stability of 
our	jurisdiction,	as	we	have	seen	during	the	
current	global	economic	crisis.	 In	order	 for	
our	 supervision	 to	 be	 effective,	we	need	 to	
constantly monitor the impact of the financial 
markets	on	the	investments	and	obligations	of	
insurers	and	retirement	funds.	This	ongoing	
monitoring	is	based	on	quarterly	and	annual	
reporting	by	regulated	entities.

c. Market volatility –	 Life	 insurance	
policies and the obligations of retirement 
funds	are	often	long	term	in	nature.	In	the	
case of retirement funds, the obligation 
to	 an	 individual	 can	 last	 as	 long	 as	 60	
years, if one considers the accumulation 
phase	 and	 the	 payout	 phase	 together.	 In	
non-life	 insurance,	 the	 coverage	 period	
of contracts is mainly of short duration, 
although	 some	 types	of	 claims	can	 take	 a	
long	time	to	settle,	so	the	average	duration	
of	 claim	 provisions	 can	 be	 many	 years.	
When contractual obligations are of such 
a long term nature, insurance companies 
and retirement funds are obliged to plan 
their	 investment	 portfolios	 for	 the	 long	
term	as	well.	When	markets	are	as	volatile	
as they are currently, special attention 
must	 be	 given	 to	 dealing	with	 the	 effects	
of	the	fluctuations.	With	this	in	mind,	our	
regulations	 have	 set	 concrete	 investment	
criteria for both insurance and retirement 
funds.

3. Financial infrastructure conditions

Financial	infrastructure	covers	the	legal	system,	
accounting and audit standards, actuarial 
standards,	 professional	 organisations	 as	 well	
as	 economic,	 financial,	 and	 social	 statistics.	 Our	

legislation	 specifies	 the	 relevant	 professional	

standards	 and	 qualifications.	The	 economic	 review	

section	that	follows	will	highlight	these	conditions.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - CONTINUED
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ECONOMIC REVIEW

Global Economic Review
The	 year	 under	 review	 started	 with	 a	 very	
unfavourable	 global	 economic	 climate.	 We	
saw	 a	 continuation	 of	 the	 negativity	 that	
had	 characterised	 the	 latter	 months	 of	 2007.	
Economic	data	coming	out	of	the	United	States	
continued	to	weaken.	This	included	a	declining	
trend in the leading economic indicator, 
slumping	 consumer	 confidence,	 weak	 retail	
sales, softening employment conditions and 
falling	house	prices.	A	perfect	storm	comprising	
a	credit	crunch	along	with	rising	food	prices	and	
energy	 prices	 tipped	 the	 consensus	 view	 from	
one	of	 slowing	growth	 to	outright	 recession	 in	
the	 US,	 still	 the	 largest	 economy	 by	 far	 and	 a	
major	influence	on	countries	around	the	globe.

The	 sub-prime	 crisis,	 which	 involved	 lending	
to	 persons	 who	 had	 no	 ability	 to	 service	 such	
debt	 once	 house	 prices	 stopped	 rising,	 proved	
to be the catalyst for a collapse in counterparty 
risk	 appetite	 that	 is	 a	 pre-requisite	 for	 banks	
to lend and for them to be able to sell financial 
assets	to	the	market.	Bank	credit	collapsed	and	
off-balance	sheet	funding	came	back	onto	bank	
balance	sheets	at	the	same	time	that	banks	had	to	
take	massive	write-offs	of	assets,	so	the	banking	
sector	 scrambled	 for	 fresh	 capital.	 	Given	 that	
the	bulk	of	the	problem	was	dollar-denominated,	
it	was	no	surprise	that	the	US	dollar	weakened.

As	we	 closed	 the	 year	 under	 review,	we	 saw	 a	
continuation of the trend established so firmly 
since	 the	 beginning	 of	 the	 crisis.	 As	 expected,	
economies	remain	under	considerable	pressure.	
It	 is	 now	 widely	 known	 that	 most	 developed	
countries are in a synchronised global recession, 

with	 the	word	 “depression”	 also	 crossing	 a	 few	
lips.	The	economies	of	developed	markets	fared	
worse	 than	 those	 of	 emerging	 markets	 like	
Swaziland. 

Unemployment	 continues	 to	 intensify	 as	 the	
global	 recession	 weighs	 on	 companies’	 profit	
margins,	while	growth	momentum	in	industrial	
production	has	fallen	off	the	cliff.

Developed	 equity	 markets,	 with	 continued	
deleveraging	depressing	more	asset	classes,	have	
continued	 to	 underperform	 emerging	markets.	
Earnings,	particularly
in	 the	 finance	 sector,	 have	 been	 collapsing.	
Credit	markets	generally	remain	under	pressure	
from	weak	economic	data	and	earnings	reports	
and	the	resulting	expectations	of	rising	defaults.

The	 World	 Bank	 expects	 global	 economic	
contraction	 of	 1.7%	 in	 2009,	 after	 an	 increase	
of	 1.9%	 in	 2008,	 with	 high-income	 countries	
contracting	 2.9%	 and	 emerging	 economies	
growing	 2.1%.	 Similarly,	 the	 IMF	 expects	
financial	 market	 stabilisation	 to	 take	 longer,	
despite	 increased	 efforts	 by	 authorities,	 and	
has	 significantly	 revised	 downward	 the	 global	
economic	growth	 rate,	 expecting	a	 contraction	
of	1.3%	in	2009.

Combined	 with	 monetary	 and	 fiscal	 policy	
stimulus,	government	initiatives	to	heal	financial	
markets	 remain	 a	 crucial	 precondition	 for	 any	
return	to	growth.	 Investors	are	still	 looking	 for	
signs	 that	 government	 rescue	 plans	 are	 taking	
hold.	

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR  - Continued
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South African and Swazi Economic Review 
and Outlook

Swaziland Economic Review
As	 the	 year	 under	 review	began,	 inflation	 stood	
at	11.37%.	Inflation	pressures	emanated	from	the	
continuous increase in food and energy prices 
(food	 and	 non-alcoholic	 beverages	 constitute	
37.73%	of	the	CPIX	basket).	At	the	end	of	the	year	
under	 review,	 the	 inflation	 rate	 stood	 at	 11.5%,	
with	food	inflation	at	15.5%	and	transport	inflation	
at	12.3%.	
As	at	close	of	the	review	period,	economic	data	
reflect	 that	Swaziland	 is	not	 insulated	 from	 the	
global	economic	crisis.	The	Minister	of	Finance,	
Majozi	 Sithole	 delivered	 the	 2009	 National	
Budget,	 and	 revised	 the	projected	GDP	growth	
rate	for	2009	from	3.1%	to	below	2.0%,	as	a	result	
of	the	expected	reduction	in	import	earnings	and	
slowing	consumer	and	private	sector	spending.

Swaziland’s	 economic	 and	 investment	 activities	
are	mainly	affected	by	the	climate	in	South	Africa,	
thus the South African economic situation is 
discussed	below.

Swaziland Economic Outlook
It	 is	 expected	 that	 the	 global	 economic	 crisis	
will	 severely	 affect	 export	 oriented	 economies	
like	 Swaziland.	 Swaziland	 will	 also	 be	 affected	
by the decrease in the biggest contributor to 
budget	 revenue.	 Southern	 African	 Customs	
Union	(SACU)	receipts,	which	account	for	63%	
of	 government	 revenue,	 are	 set	 to	 decrease	
for	 fiscal	 year	 2009-2010,	 due	 to	 South	 Africa	
demanding	a	 revision	 in	 the	payment	 system.	The	
standoff	 between	 South	 Africa	 and	 the	 European	
Commission	has	halted	the	Economic	Partnership	

Agreement, creating uncertainty regarding future 
sugar	prices.	Sugar	accounts	for	19%	of	total	domestic	
exports.	

Declining	global	demand	will	severely	affect	the	
agricultural	 and	 manufacturing	 sectors,	 which	
employ	25%	of	Swaziland’s	working	population.	
Interest	rates	are	set	to	decrease	even	further	as	
the	 Monetary	 Policy	 Committee	 takes	 a	 more	
aggressive	stance,	but	the	decrease	may	not	be	as	
large	as	earlier	anticipated	due	to	the	slowdown	
in	the	decrease	of	the	inflation	rate.
The	Lilangeni/Rand	is	expected	to	weaken	against	
the	US	dollar	 as	 risk	 aversion	 causes	 people	 to	
buy	into	the	US	dollar.

South African Economic Review

The	year	kicked	off	with	South	Africa	facing	two	
key	 economic	 concerns,	 one	 being	 the	 Eskom	
power	 crisis	 and	 the	 other	 being	 inflation.	The	
impact	 of	 Eskom	 on	 the	 domestic	 economy	
was	 exacerbated	 by	 shortages	 of	 raw	materials,	
bottlenecks	at	ports,	and	inadequate	road	and	rail	
infrastructure.	Mining	 production	 was	 affected	
by the reduced electricity supply and fell sharply 
by	10.4%.	

Inflation	 remained	 under	 significant	 pressure.	
Rising	 inflation	 was	 largely	 a	 result	 of	 higher	
food,	petrol	and	coal	prices.	The	evidence	of	the	
tighter	monetary	 environment,	 higher	 inflation	
and	higher	household	debt	saw	the	first	decline	
in	 retail	 sales	 in	 seven	 years.	 Manufacturing	
slowed	to	a	four-and-a-half	year	low,	affected	by	
the	power	crisis	and	slowing	consumer	demand	

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR  - Continued

Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds 11



for	 cars	 and	 furniture.	 Consumer	 confidence	
dipped	to	its	lowest	level	in	seven	years.

As	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 review	 period,	 further	
negative	 news	 has	 indicated	 the	 economy	will	
likely	 experience	 a	 cyclical	 slowdown	 until	 at	
least	the	second	half	of	2009.	South	Africa’s	GDP	
in	the	final	quarter	of	2008	calendar	year	shrank	
by	 1.8%,	worse	 than	 the	Bloomberg	 consensus	
expectation	 of	 1.5%	 contraction	 and	 evidence	
that	 the	 global	 economic	 activity	 has	 fed	 into	
the	 South	 African	 economy.	 This	 continued	
to	 set	 the	 stage	 for	 the	 progressive	 lowering	
of	 interest	 rates	 by	 the	 South	African	 Reserve	
Bank’s	 Monetary	 Policy	 Committee,	 made	
possible	by	 the	 falling	 inflation	 rate	 to	 January	
2009.	Interest	rate	cuts	provide	immediate	relief	
to consumers and retail sales usually respond by 
rising.	Wage	 demands	 have	 begun	 to	 escalate	
and administered price increases are set to be 
well	 above	 the	 inflation	 target,	 particularly	 in	
the	case	of	electricity.	Eskom	has	indicated	that	
it	needs	a	34%	hike	in	tariffs	to	partly	fund	the	
expansion	 of	 generating	 capacity	 required	 to	
serve	the	growing	economy.

South African Economic Outlook
The	 South	 African	 economy	 is	 unlikely	 to	
recover	 this	 year,	 as	 export	 sales	 in	 all	 sectors	
are	 expected	 to	decrease.	The	mining	 industry	
alone	 has	 already	 undergone	 job	 shedding:	
Lonmin	 (the	 world’s	 third	 biggest	 producer	
of platinum) is in the process of retrenching 
25,000	mineworkers,	and	more	companies	have	
threatened	to	follow	suit	unless	the	government	
provides	 bailouts.	 Copper	 and	 platinum	 spot	
prices,	indicative	of	South	Africa’s	main	mineral	
exports,	 shrank	 by	 47%	 and	 50%	 respectively,	
from	May	 2007	 to	March	 2009.	 Total	 car	 and	
commercial	 vehicle	 sales	 dropped	 by	 50%	
from	 August	 2007	 to	 March	 2009,	 indicating	
diminished demand, due in part to the decrease 
in	average	disposable	income	as	well	as	decrease	
in	business	profits.

The	over	reliance	on	commodities	will	effectively	
have	 an	 immense	 implication	 on	 future	 GDP	
growth.	 The	 South	 African	 Reserve	 Bank’s	
composite leading business cycle indicator has 
confirmed that the economy is headed for a 
recession	coupled	with	a	rise	in	unemployment	
and	a	drop	in	living	standards.	This	may	lead	to	
stagflation	in	the	economy.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - CONTINUED
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RIRF OPERATIONS

RIRF Financial Resources
RIRF	 is	 funded	 partly	 by	 levies	 collected	 from	
regulated	entities	and	partly	by	government	grants	
in	accordance	with	the	provisions	of	the	Insurance	
Act	of	2005.

RIRF prepares its budget annually based on its 
operational	 requirements,	 and	 submits	 such	
budget	 to	 the	 Minister	 of	 Finance	 for	 approval.	
Any anticipated shortfall that arises as a result 
of the operations of the office is then funded by 
Government.

This	was	the	first	time	the	office	charged	levies	to	
the	industry.	Actual	levies	raised	for	the	year	were	
E10	 million,	 and	 accordingly	 the	 Government	
grant	was	reduced	from	E15	million	in	the	previous	
year	to	E5.5	million.	

It	 is	 expected	 that	 once	 RIRF	 has	 accumulated	
enough	 reserves	 from	 industry	 levies,	 financial	
support	 from	 Government	 will	 diminish,	 and	
eventually	 be	 eliminated,	 providing	 financial	
independence.

RIRF Participation in International Forums
RIRF is a member of international regulatory 
bodies, namely, the International Association of 
Insurance	 Supervisors	 (IAIS)	 and	 International	
Organisation	 of	 Pensions	 Supervisors	 (IOPS).	
Through	 participation	 RIRF	 keeps	 abreast	 of	
international	 regulatory	 developments	 and	 gets	
the	opportunity	to	share	ideas	and	benchmark	its	
approach against best practice standards codified 
by	these	bodies.

Africa and the SADC
As	Swaziland	is	a	member	of	the	Southern	African	
Development	 Community	 (SADC),	 RIRF	 is	 a	
member of its Committee of Insurance, Securities 
and	Non-banking	Financial	Authorities	(CISNA).	
CISNA’s	 main	 objective	 is	 to	 establish	 sound	
regulatory	 frameworks	 and	 to	 promote	 and	
maintain confidence in the financial systems in 
the	 SADC	 region.	 It	 also	 promotes	 the	 creation	
of	 a	 comprehensive	 and	 harmonised	 regulatory	
framework	in	capital	markets,	investment	services,	
insurance	 and	 retirement	 funds.	 The	 aim	 is	 to	
prepare	the	region’s	regulatory	framework	for	free	
flow	of	capital	within	the	SADC	and,	in	particular,	
to	address	potential	regulatory	arbitrage.

Active	 participation	 in	 the	 committee’s	 activities	
helps	 RIRF	 to	 create	 networks,	 and	 to	 share	
information	 with	 member	 countries,	 especially	
relating	 to	 regulated	 entities	 existing	 in	 other	
countries.

Human Resources and Staff Welfare
As	at	31	March	2009	RIRF	had	16	(31	March	2008:	
15)	staff	members.	As	a	supervisory	and	regulatory	
authority in the insurance and retirement funds 
industries,	 RIRF	 requires	 employees	 with	 the	
highest	level	of	technical	expertise	to	ensure	that	its	
mandate	is	carried	out	effectively	and	efficiently.	In	
recognition	of	this	fact,	RIRF	continued	to	provide	
financial assistance and study loans to employees 
who	 are	 pursuing	 various	 studies.	 RIRF	 also	
strives	to	maintain	an	environment	that	promotes	
fair	 treatment	 and	 equal	 opportunities	 for	 all	 its	
employees.	 Salary	 and	 performance	 reviews	 are	

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - CONTINUED

Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds 13



performed	periodically	to	ensure	that	staff	is	being	
remunerated	within	the	benchmarks	of	the	market	
and according to their performance.

Training,	Bursaries	and	Other	Development	
Programmes
RIRF employees had the opportunity to attend the 
courses	and	seminars	listed	below:
a. WITS Business School – During the year 

RIRF	 managers	 attended	 the	 Programme	 in	
principle of business and management at 
WITS	 Business	 School.	The	 purpose	 of	 this	
course	 was	 to	 enable	 managers	 to	 enhance	
their	managerial	skills.	This	course	ran	for	one	
week	per	month,	for	a	period	of	four	months.

b. Toronto Centre –	 Leadership	 in	 Financial	
Supervision	–	During	 the	 year,	 the	Registrar	
attended a leadership training program 
provided	 by	 the	 Toronto	 Centre	 in	 Canada.	
This is a training institution that has helped 
2,362	 financial	 regulators	 around	 the	 world	
gain	leadership	skills	needed	to	make	changes	
and	improve	the	effectiveness	of	their	agencies.

c. IAIS Regional Seminar for Insurance 
Supervisors –	 Insurance	 supervisors	 from	
African countries met for a regional seminar in 
Accra,	Ghana	in	November	2008.	The	seminar	
was	organised	jointly	by	the	National	Insurance	
Commission (NIC) in Ghana, the Financial 
Stability Institute (FSI) and the International 
Association	 of	 Insurance	 Supervisors	 (IAIS).	
One	staff	member	from	RIRF	attended.

 
d. IOPS Regional Seminar for Pensions 

Supervisors –	 Retirement	 funds	 supervisors	
from	African	countries	met	in	Mombasa,	Kenya	
in	October	 2008.	The	 seminar	 was	 organised	

by	 the	 International	Organisation	 of	 Pensions	
Supervisors	 (IOPS)	 in	 conjunction	 with	 the	
Organisation	 for	 Economic	 Cooperation	 and	
Development	(OECD).	One	staff	member	from	
RIRF	attended.

e. Educational assistance and study loans – As 
part	 of	 employee	 development	 programmes,	
RIRF	 continued	 to	 extend	 financial	 support	
to	 the	 two	 staff	 members	 who	 are	 pursuing	
their	 actuarial	 studies.	 Actuarial	 skills	 were	
identified as scarce in the country, yet they are 
critical	to	the	work	of	RIRF.	

Technical Assistance
During	 the	year	under	 review,	RIRF	continued	 to	
receive	technical	assistance	from	the	International	
Monetary Fund (IMF) and Global Mandate 
Consulting	(GMC).

a. The IMF technical assistance – The IMF 
consultant	 provides	 on-going	 on	 the	 job	
training	relating	to	the	supervisory	processes,	
legislation	 development	 and	 review,	 as	 well	
as	 development	 and	 implementation	 of	
operational	policies	and	procedures.	The	IMF	
team	visits	RIRF	once	a	quarter	and	monitors	
progress	on	an	ongoing	basis.

b. Global Mandate Consulting – The 
consultants from GMC continued to assist 
RIRF	 with	 the	 implementation	 of	 all	 the	
policies	 and	 procedures	 they	 assisted	 with	
from	 inception	 of	 the	 office.	 However,	 the	
contract	 with	 GMC	 expired	 at	 the	 end	 of	
March	 2009.	 RIRF	 would	 like	 to	 extend	 its	
appreciation to GMC for all the contributions 
they have	made	 in	 assisting	RIRF	 to	where	 it	 is	

today.	
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REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - CONTINUED

INDUSTRY PERSPECTIVE

Licensing
The Insurance Act and the Retirement Funds 
Act	 require	 all	 entities	 dealing	 in	 insurance	 and	
retirement	 funds	 businesses	 to	 be	 licensed.	 A	
license formally authorises entities to carry on 
business	 in	 Swaziland	 and	 helps	 to	 ensure	 that	
only	 entities	 that	 are	 financially	 strong,	 owned	
and operated by suitable persons, and operated 
in	 an	 appropriate	manner	 are	 given	 access	 to	 the	
market.	 Licensing	 is	meant	 to	 protect	 consumers	
from insurers, retirement funds and intermediaries 
that	 are	 either	 likely	 to	 be	 unable	 to	 meet	 their	
obligations	 or	 not	 prepared	 to	 follow	 appropriate	
market	conduct	practices.	It	is	not	meant	to	act	as	a	
barrier	to	market	access.	

Registered entities as at the close of the 2008/2009 
financial year stood as follows:

Entity Licensed/  Licensed/
 registered  registered 
 entities 08/09 entities 07/08

Insurers		 6	 5

Brokers		 22	 9

Corporate	Agents		 6	 -

Individual	Agents	 53	 18

Local	Retirement	Funds		 33	 3

Foreign	Retirement	Funds	 11	 -

Investment	Managers	 5	 -

Fund	Administrators	 4	 1

The number of registered entities in all regulated 
categories has been growing steadily, as indicated in 
the table above.	

Insurers                                                                                                                                                                                   
In	the	period	under	review,	one	long	term	insurer	
has been licensed, bringing the total number of 

insurers	 operating	 in	 the	 local	 market	 to	 six	 (6).	
Interest in short term insurance has been indicated 
by	 two	 (2)	 companies	 who	 have	 submitted	
applications	 for	 registration.	 It	 is	 anticipated	 that	
by	the	next	reporting	date,	there	may	be	additional	
insurers	offering	short	term	insurance	locally.

The	local	insurance	industry	is	faced	with	a	number	
of	 challenges,	 which	 include	 the	 achievement	 of	
growth	in	a	market	in	which	many	consumers	still	
do	not	 fully	understand	the	concept	of	 insurance.	
RIRF,	 however,	 sees	 this	 as	 an	 opportunity	 that	
insurers	 can	 take	 advantage	 to	 grow	 their	market	
share.	In	this	regard,	RIRF	is	planning	on	embarking	
on	 consumer	 education	 drives,	 hopefully	 in	
partnership	with	registered	insurers,	that	will	bring	
awareness	to	consumers	of	 the	value	of	 insurance	
as	a	 tool	 for	saving	and	protection,	and	 to	ensure	
that their decisions are made based on informed 
choices.		

Brokers and Agents
At	 the	 end	 of	 the	 period	 under	 review,	 there	
were	 thirty	 three	 (33)	 applications	 received	 for	
registration	from	brokers	out	of	which	twenty	two	
(22)	have	been	fully	registered	and	eleven	(11)	are	
still	at	various	stages	of	assessment.	Fifty	three	(53)	
individual	 agent	 applications	 have	 been	 received	
and	have	all	been	 registered.	This	only	 represents	
agents	 for	 3	 major	 institutions;	 other	 registered	
entities	are	still	expected	to	submit	applications	for	
their	 agents.	Ten	applications	were	 received	 from	
corporate	agents	and	six	were	approved,	with	four	
applications	still	under	consideration.
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Retirement Funds
Sixty	 four	 (64)	 applications	 for	 the	 registration	
of	 local	 retirement	 funds	 have	 been	 received	
and	 thirty	 three	 (33)	 have	 been	 fully	 registered.	
Thirty	one	(31)	of	these	are	at	different	stages	of	
assessment.	Out	of	the	sixty	four,	four	applications	
are	from	umbrella	funds,	having	a	total	of	seventy	
two	(72)	participating	employers.

The Supervisory Process
RIRF’s	 main	 function	 as	 an	 office	 covers	 a	
broad	 span	 of	 functions	 including:	 licensing,	
requesting	and	receiving	information,	inspection,	
intervention	 and	 management	 of	 the	 orderly	
exit	 of	 weak	 companies.	 The	 bulk	 of	 RIRF	
responsibilities relate specifically to the direct 
oversight	 and	 supervision	 of	 licensed	 market	
participants.	 During	 this	 process	 we	 strive	
to ensure that our processes are structured, 
documented,	 understood	 by	 our	 staff	 and	 our	
regulated	 entities,	 and	 are	 applied	 in	 an	 even-
handed	and	consistent	manner. 

RIRF	 strives	 to	 consult	 with	 stakeholders	 to	 get	
input	 before	 final	 decisions	 are	 made	 affecting	
the	 industry	 or	 consumers.	 RIRF	 is	 aware	 that	
transparency contributes to the confidence 
that	 the	 general	 public,	 the	 legislative	 branch	 of	
government	and	the	regulated	entities	place	in	our	
office and in the insurance and retirement funds 
sectors.

Task of Supervision
RIRF	 would	 like	 to	 outline	 the	 basic	 workflow	
involved	 in	 supervision.	 Once	 entities	 are	
licensed they enter into a continuous process 
of	 supervision,	 which	 starts	 with	 the	 receipt	 of	
financial and non-financial information that 

each	entity	 is	 required	 to	 submit	both	quarterly	
and	annually.	This	information	is	discussed	in	
Insurance	 Core	 Principle	 (ICP)	 12	 and	 could	
include	a	comprehensive	report	on	the	financial	
condition of the regulated entity and its business 
activities,	 the	 composition	 of	 its	 board	 and	 the	
business	plan	for	the	upcoming	year.

This information is subjected to a comprehensive 
review by RIRF staff to:
•	 Verify	its	accuracy	to	the	extent	that	this	can	

be done by comparing information (a) in one 
part	of	the	return	with	information	in	other	
parts	and	(b)	in	the	current	return	with	past	
returns	from	the	entity;

• Identify trends by comparing information 
in	 the	current	 return	with	 information	 in	a	
series	of	prior	returns	from	the	entity;	and

•	 Compare	the	results	achieved	by	one	entity	
with	 those	 reported	 by	 other	 entities	 with	
similar	operating	characteristics.

The	techniques	used	in	this	offsite	review	include	
trend analysis, peer group analysis, tests for 
compliance	 with	 minimum	 standards,	 ratio	
analysis,	 and	 risk	 analysis.	 The	 results	 of	 this	
offsite	 work,	 together	 with	 information	 on	 the	
sector or economy generally, plus information 
from analyses and inspections from prior periods, 
help to identify the areas that need further 
examination	during	an	onsite	inspection.	Onsite	
inspections	 provide	 the	 opportunity	 to	 take	 a	
first-hand	 look	 at	 the	operations	 and	 records	of	
the	entity.

REPORT BY THE REGISTRAR - CONTINUED
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Following	an	onsite	inspection,	RIRF	then	prepares	
a	report	 to	 the	entity	outlining	key	findings	and	
describing	any	remedial	action	that	must	be	taken	
by	the	entity.	This	forms	part	of	the	information	
that	is	tracked	during	the	year	as	the	progress	to	
implementing	 remediation	 is	 monitored.	 This	
cycle	of	activities	is	repeated	each	year,	and	more	
frequently	if	there	are	 significant concerns about the 

viability	of	the	entity.

These	activities	are	necessary	for	RIRF	to	meet	its	
mandate. 

RIRF Supervisory Approach

There	are	three	basic	supervisory	approaches	on	
which	supervisory	processes	are	designed.	These	
are compliance assessment, internal process 
assessment	and	risk-focused	approaches.	

With	the	advice	obtained	from	the	continued	IMF	
technical	assistance,	RIRF	has	taken	a	decision	to	
adopt	a	progressive	supervisory	approach	at	three	
levels;	level	1	being	compliance	assessment,	level	
2	 being	 substantive/internal	 process	 assessment	
and	level	3	being	risk-focused	assessment.	

Level 1 – Compliance Assessment

As	we	begin	our	supervisory	inspections,	RIRF’s	
initial	 focus	 will	 be	 on	 compliance	 assessment.	
These	 inspections	will	 start	 in	April	 2009.	With	
this	 approach,	 inspections	 will	 concentrate	 on	
ensuring	that	supervised	entities	comply	with	the	
legislation, regulations, guidelines and procedural 
requirements	on	licensing	conditions,	operational	
requirements	 and	 financial	 requirements.	 Our	
assessments	 will	 basically	 look	 at	 the	 past.	 A	
heavy	weighting	 of	 this	 approach	 is	 appropriate	

in	 our	 market,	 since	 we	 are	 at	 an	 early	 stage	
of	 development.	 It	 is	 the	 easiest	 approach	 to	
implement, since the result in respect of any one 
requirement	 is	 either	 compliance	 or	 not.	 RIRF	
has	 developed	 checklists	 of	 important	 areas	 in	
which	 compliance	 is	 to	 be	 assessed	 and	 rated.	
Violations	will	be	noted	and	entities	directed	 to	
take	 corrective	 action	 to	 bring	 their	 operations	
into	compliance.	

Level 2 – Substantive/Process Assessment

This approach has been incorporated, at a limited 
scale,	 together	 with	 compliance	 assessment.	
When implemented at a full scale, this approach 
will	 focus	 our	 attention	 on	 the	 internal	 control	
procedures that entities use to manage their 
businesses.	 Business	 activities,	 processes	 and	
controls,	risk	management	controls	and	financial	
conditions	will	be	assessed.	This	approach	is	built	
on	 the	 premise	 that	 entities	 should	have	 robust	
internal	control	procedures	in	order	to	know	what	
is happening in the organisation and be confident 
that	the	work	is	being	done	to	the	standards	set	by	
management	and	the	board.

At	 this	 level,	RIRF	 inspectors	will	 be	 looking	 to	
see	that	entities’	policies	are	known	and	applied	
and	that	 the	results	are	reported	upward	within	
the	management	of	the	entities.	When	errors	are	
found	 or	 policies	 are	 not	 being	 followed,	 RIRF	
will	demand	corrective	action.	

This	 substantive/process	 assessment	 approach	
provides	 insights	 into	 the	 risks	 of	 an	 entity	 and	
it is a necessary tool for implementing more 
advanced	risk-focused	techniques. 
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Level 3 - Risk-focused (or Risk-based) 
Assessment

This	 level	 of	 assessment	 is	 still	 far	 from	
implementation by RIRF, although it is the ultimate 
target.	Therefore,	for	the	benefit	of	understanding	
what	it	entails,	we	will	outline	it	here.	

This	 category	 includes	 a	wide	 range	 of	 practices	
that	 focus	 on	 the	 risks	 in	 the	 industry	 and	
individual	entities	and	how	entities	manage	those	
risks.	RIRF	will	carry	out	cross-sector	studies	on	
the	risks	and	risk	management	practices	of	entities	
in	high-risk	areas	of	the	business.	A	cross-sector	
study	is	a	useful	technique	for	looking	at	specific	
risks	 or	 concentrations	 within	 the	 industry.	The	
results	 will	 assist	 RIRF	 in	 determining	 industry	
norms,	 exposures,	 and	 practices.	 The	 results	
are useful to entities because inspected entities 
receive	 feedback	on	where	they	stand	in	relation	
to	the	rest	of	the	industry.

Under	 this	 approach,	 the	 analysis	 considers	 
economic, industry, and company-based informa-
tion	to	identify	areas	of	potential	vulnerability	in	an	
entity.	These	are	referred	to	as	significant	activities	
and could be a line of business, a geographic area 
of operation, a department or area of operation in 
the entity, or an aspect of the business that may be 
inherently	risky.	During	this	stage,	RIRF	will	form	a	
view	of	the	gross	risk	exposure	and	its	significance	
to	the	entity.	

During	 the	onsite	 inspection,	RIRF	will	 examine	
what	the	entity	does	to	manage	or	control	the	risks	
within	 the	 significant	 activities	 being	 examined.	
Risk	management	activities	are	often	referred	to	as	
mitigants.	These	are	activities	that	transform	the	

risks	from	ones	that	are	unpredicatable,	unstable,	
or	 unaffordable	 into	 business	 outcomes	 that	 are	
more	predictable,	stable	and	affordable.	
These risk management activities could cover a 
wide range, including:
•	 Sound	underwriting	practices
• Appropriate concentration limits for both 

assets and liabilities
•	 The	effective	use	of	reinsurance
• Sound internal controls
•	 Strong	corporate	governance	culture
• Sound human resource policies
• Robust compliance management systems
•	 Sound	investment	management	controls
•	 Appropriate	claims	adjudication	practices.

Having	 looked	 at	 the	 entity’s	 risk	 management	
activities,	RIRF	will	 apply	 informed	 judgment	 in	
assessing these practices, because there could be 
significant	differences	among	practices	in	different	
entities,	and	practices	that	work	in	one	company	
may	not	be	effective	in	another.	During	this	part	
of	the	risk-focused	approach,	RIRF	will	judge	the	
effectiveness	 of	 these	 practices	 in	 making	 the	
results	within	the	activity	stable,	predictable,	and	
affordable.	

Where	 risk	 management	 activities	 are	 assessed	
to	be	less	than	adequate,	RIRF	will	determine	the	
required	 remedial	 action	 through	 its	 internally	
developed	intervention	policy	and	procedures.	By	
its	very	nature,	this	approach	can	lead	into	an	in-
depth	inspection	of	aspects	of	the	entity’s	business	
that might fall outside strict interpretation of the 
legislation	and	regulations. 
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The strengths of the risk-focused approach include 
the following:
•	 It	 focuses	 supervisory	 attention	 on	 the	 areas	

of operation that are most important to its 
continued	viability	and	financial	soundness;

•	 Since	 each	 entity	 is	 different,	 this	 approach	
“customises”	the	review	process	to	the	unique	
characteristics of each entity, and as such, can 
assist RIRF in identifying potential problems 
early;

• This approach is built on the premise that 
entities are in the business of mitigating their 
customers’	 risks,	 so	 they	 should	 likewise	 be	
expected	to	manage	their	own	risks	well,	and	
the	 supervisory	 approach	 should	 mirror	 the	
manner	 in	 which	 companies	 manage	 their	
affairs;

•	 The	process	usually	produces	an	overall	rating	
of	 an	 entity,	 such	 as,	 “strong,	 acceptable,	 or	
weak”;	and

•	 The	risk-focused	approach	is	forward	looking	
–	that	is,	it	tries	to	anticipate	future	problems.

Supervisory Challenges
In	 the	period	under	review,	RIRF	was	 faced	with	
the	following	challenges:
1.	 The	 delay	 in	 the	 appointment	 of	 the	

Adjudicator continues to be a cause for 
concern as the local insurance and retirement 
funds	industries	grow.

2.	 Timeliness	and	accuracy	of	quarterly	reports	
is	still	a	cause	for	concern.	Without	accurate	
data	 received	 from	 regulated	 entities,	
RIRF cannot conduct necessary financial 
assessments or report accurate industry 

data.	 To	 assist	 entities	 with	 the	 filing	 of	
quarterly	 reports,	 the	 office	 has	 drafted	 a	
guideline	that	will	assist	in	the	interpretation	
of	specified	fields	in	the	return	form.

3.	 Lack	of	monitoring	by	insurers	of	their	agents	
and	 brokers	 in	 the	 marketing	 of	 products,	
especially in the area of funeral insurance, is 
a	 cause	 for	 concern.	 It	 is	 the	 responsibility	
of	 the	 insurers	by	 law,	 to	ensure	 that	 those	
they	 give	 the	 responsibility	 to	market	 their	
products	 are	 doing	 so	 within	 the	 confines	
of	 the	 law.	 In	 the	period	under	review,	 two	
entities	have	been	found	in	violation	of	this	
requirement	 and	 have	 been	 accordingly	
directed	to	rectify	the	breach.	

4.	 The	pricing	of	 funeral	 insurance	 is	 another	
area	of	concern	which	has	been	identified	by	
RIRF.	In	the	past,	sellers	of	funeral	insurance	
have	 been	 allowed	 by	 their	 principals	 to	
load	 a	 retail	 surcharge	 onto	 the	 approved	
premium by the insurer as commission 
for	 their	 services.	 This	 has	 resulted	 in	
unacceptably high premiums being charged 
to	the	consumer.	In	addition,	this	surcharge	
has not been uniform, thus the same product 
has at times been sold to consumers at three 
or	four	different	prices.	Legally,	commission	
limitations set out in the Regulations must 
be respected by insurers in compensating 
intermediaries	for	work	done.	In	the	process	
of amendment of current commission 
scales,	 this	 area	 will	 also	 be	 considered	 so	
that all parties concerned are remunerated 
appropriately.
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LEGAL, POLICY AND INTERVENTION

Legal Research
RIRF continues to conduct research on legislation 
impacting	on	its	supervisory	and	regulatory	roles.	
Some	of	the	research	has	revealed	that	both	RIRF	
and the Competition Commission (established 
in	 terms	 of	 the	 Competition	 Act	 no:	 8/	 2007)	
are	 empowered	 by	 their	 founding	 legislations	 to	
approve	mergers,	acquisitions,	portfolio	transfers	
and	 amalgamations.	 The	 Commission	 has	
jurisdiction	 over	 competition	 matters	 across	 all	
sectors	whilst	RIRF	is	a	sector	regulator	responsible	
for technical regulation of the insurance and 
retirement	 funds	 industries.	 RIRF	 entered	 into	
discussions	 with	 the	 Commission	 with	 a	 view	
to	 forming	 a	working	partnership	 and	 agreed	 to	
harmonize	 their	operations,	 so	 that	 stakeholders	
can enjoy the benefits of certainty and consistency 
of	the	regulatory	processes.	

By	 collaborating	 and	 combining	 regulatory	
approaches, RIRF and the Commission can 
control	 anti-competitive	 trade	 practices,	 avoid	
instances	of	forum	shopping	and	enhance	effective	
supervision.	RIRF	will	enter	into	a	Memorandum	
of	 Understanding	 (MOU)	with	 the	 Commission	
detailing	how	the	parties	will	cooperate	in	respect	
of	 the	 investigation,	 evaluation	 and	 analysis	 of	
mergers	and	acquisitions	and	complaints	handling.	

Complaints Handling
The	 number	 of	 new	 complaints	 reported	 to	 the	
office is gradually increasing, perhaps due to the 
public	 awareness	 initiatives	 by	 the	 office	 and	
it	 	might	 also	 be	due	 to	worsening	behaviour	 of	
the	 industry.	 Some	 complainants	 submit	written	
complaints.	However,	the	office	also	receives	

complaints	through	walk-in,	and	telephonic	
enquiries	 relating	 to	 the	procedures	of	 the	office	
or	requesting	advice.	Some	of	the	complaints	have	
been	 successfully	 resolved	 and	 others	 are	 under	
investigation,	 while	 some	 require	 reformulation	
as	 they	 were	 lacking	 in	 material	 detail.	 Most	
complaints relate to the computation of retirement 
benefits,	 which	 demonstrates	 that	 retirement	
funds	 and	 their	 administrators	 do	 not	 always	
communicate	effectively	with	members	as	regards	
their	 benefits	 or	 how	 benefits	 are	 calculated.	
Other complaints relate to non disclosure of 
information, unpaid commission, late payment of 
retirement benefits, payment of arrear premiums 
for insurance policies and long term assurance 
products	such	as	life	and	disability.																																																																																									

Legislative Amendments
The amendment of the Insurance and Retirement 
Funds Acts continued during the reporting 
period.	 The	 ongoing	 exercise	 has	 revealed	 that	
under	the	Insurance	Act,	RIRF	has	no	supervisory	
and regulatory jurisdiction on the operations of 
medical	 schemes	 in	 Swaziland.	The	 exclusion	 of	
medical schemes from the Act is a challenge to 
RIRF’s	mandate	as	the	office	has	noted	significant	
similarities in the operations of medical aid 
schemes,	medical	insurance	and	health	insurance.	
The	 office	 has	 been	 involved	 in	 extensive	
consultation	 with	 local	 stakeholders,	 including	
the	Ministry	of	Health,	and	other	regulators	in	the	
region	on	how	best	it	can	bring	under	regulation	
medical	aid	schemes	which	are	currently	excluded	
by	the	Insurance	Act.	Only	health	insurance	is	being	
regulated,	yet	there	is	a	thin	line	between	the	two.			
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As part of enhancing its regulatory capacity, RIRF 
has initiated the alignment of the Insurance Act 
and	the	Retirement	Funds	Acts	with	the	Financial	
Services	 Regulatory	 Authority	 (FSRA)	 Bill.	 The	
purpose	 of	 the	 FSRA	Bill	 is	 to	 establish	 a	 single	
regulatory	 authority	 for	 the	 non-bank	 financial	
services	sector.	In	the	new	dispensation,	RIRF	will	
become a department under FSRA, and the need 
for	harmonization	of	 the	Acts	 is	 important.	 It	 is	
hoped	 that	 the	Bill	will	 pass	 through	parliament	
this	year. 

Liaison with Other Local Authorities 
RIRF is committed to establishing formal relations 
for	cooperation,	mutual	assistance	and	exchange	
of	 information	 with	 other	 local	 authorities.	
Discussions	aimed	at	concluding	MOUs	with	the	
following	 organisations	 are	 ongoing:	 the	Central	
Bank	 of	 Swaziland,	 Commissioner	 of	 Police,	
Anti-Corruption	 Commission,	 Income	 Tax	
Department	 and	 the	 Competition	 Commission.	
During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 RIRF	 and	 the	
Central	 Bank	 of	 Swaziland	 investigated	 the	
operations	of	 two	entities,	which	were	operating	
pyramid	schemes.	The	two	entities	were	 illegally	
collecting money from members of the public or 
illegally	offering	 insurance	products,	 in	 violation	
of the Financial Institutions Act and the Insurance 
Act,	 respectively.	The	 illegal	 operations	 of	 these	
entities	were	successfully	challenged	 in	Court	by	
the	 Central	 Bank.	The	 impact	 of	 the	 closure	 of	
these	entities	attracted	a	high	level	of	media	and	
public	 attention	 and	 is	 affecting	 the	 interests	 of	
many	people.

Consumer Protection and Education
As part of our consumer protection and education 
initiative,	RIRF	continues	to	undertake	programs	

that	 are	 focused	 on	 improving	 and	 safeguarding	
consumer interests in the insurance and retirement 
funds	industries	in	Swaziland.	

RIRF	 participated	 in	 the	 2008	 Swaziland	
International	Trade	Fair,	the	aim	of	which	was	to	
sensitize	consumers	on	the	importance	of	dealing	
with	legitimate	players	and	educating	them	about	
their	 rights	 and	 how	 to	 exercise	 them.	 RIRF	
also published a list of registered entities in the 
newspapers,	and	warned	members	of	the	public	not	
to	deal	with	unregistered	entities.	Advertisements	
with	similar	messages	to	the	public	were	also	run	
through	Swaziland	Broadcasting	and	Information	
Services	(SBIS)	and	Voice	of	the	Church	(VOC).	

In	 October,	 2008,	 a	 two	 day	 workshop	 for	 the	
Attorney	 General’s	 Chambers,	 the	 Director	 of	
Public	Prosecutions	(DPP’s)	office	and	Magistrates	
was	 held,	 the	 purpose	 of	 which	 was	 to	 enable	
them to better understand consumer protection 
issues,	the	provisions	of	the	Insurance	Act	and	the	
Retirement	Funds	Act,	and	the	industry	in	general.	

Another	 workshop	 for	 members	 of	 boards	 of	
trustees	of	retirement	funds	across	the	country	was	
held	in	February	2009.	Its	purpose	was	to	acquaint	
participants on their duties in the management 
of	 retirement	 funds	 and	 safeguarding	 members’	
interests.	 Of	 note	 among	 boards	 of	 trustees	 of	
retirement	 funds	 is	 a	 low	 level	of	understanding	
of retirement funds management issues, including 
the Act, their duties and the implications of 
services	 fees	 and	 investment	 issues.	 With	 the	
current economic situation, and retirement funds 
experiencing	poor	investment	performance,	boards	
of	 trustees	 need	 to	 be	 vigilant	 and	 increase	 their	
role	in	dealing	with	the	situation.			
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Intervention Policy
RIRF	has	developed	and	adopted	an	intervention	
policy.	 The	 policy	 focuses	 on	 the	 steps	 taken	
to	 identify	 and	 evaluate	 areas	 of	 concern	 with	
regulated	entities,	as	well	as	state	the	procedures	
for	intervention	to	ensure	that	the	entities	take	the	
necessary	 actions	 to	 remain	 viable	 and	 solvent.	
The	policy	amongst	other	things	seeks	to:
• ensure compliance by regulated entities 

with	legal	requirements	and	sound	business	
practices;

•	 promote	voluntary	compliance;
•	 set	 clear	 objectives	 and	 standards	 for	 each	

area	or	type	of	intervention;
•	 protect	consumers;
• promote efficient, fair, safe and stable 

markets;	
• maintain the confidence of consumers in the 

market;
• ensure the entities remain operationally 

viable	and	solvent;	and
• establish a transparent basis for timely, 

appropriate	and	consistent	supervisory		
intervention,	including	enforcement.

The	 policy	was	 recently	 submitted	 to	 industry	
players	 for	 consultation.	 All	 comments	 were	
consolidated	and	are	being	reviewed	before	the	
policy	is	finalised.	

Brokers’ Code of Conduct
RIRF	has	revised	the	Brokers’	Code	of	Conduct,	
which	is	set	out	in	the	Registrar’s	Directives	to	
the	 Insurance	 Act.	The	 main	 objective	 of	 the	
Code is to regulate the rendering of financial 
advisory	 and	 intermediary	 services	 to	 clients.	
It	contains	provisions	relating	to	the	making	of	
adequate	 disclosures	 of	 material	 information	
and	the	avoidance	of	fraudulent	and	misleading	
advertising,	 canvassing	 and	 marketing.	 Under	
the	 Code,	 brokers	 are	 obliged	 to	 treat	 clients	
fairly	in	a	situation	of	conflicting	interests	and	to	
act	honestly	and	with	due	skill,	care	and	diligence	
in the interests of clients and the integrity of the 
insurance	industry.	

RIRF	has	facilitated	a	consultative	meeting	on	the	
Brokers’	Code	of	Conduct.		During	the	meeting,	
all	 participants	 were	 given	 an	 opportunity	 to	
make	an	input.	They	were	further	given	a	period	
of	 14	 days	 within	 which	 to	 submit	 written	
contributions.	This	was	to	ensure	that	all	brokers	
had	 the	 opportunity	 to	 make	 a	 meaningful	
contribution	 towards	 the	 Code.	 RIRF	 has	
carefully	 reviewed	 all	 industry	 comments	 and	
modified	the	Code,	as	appropriate.	
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The	table	above	shows	that	the	retirement	funds	sector	was	dominated	by	investment	losses,	resulting	in	overall	

income	of	E220	million	being	lower	than	overall	expenses	of	E604	million.	This	scenario	resulted	in	an	overall	net	

loss	of	E383	million	during	the	year.

RETIREMENT FUNDS INDUSTRY SUMMARY - INCOME STATEMENT 
Quarter end

Notes Q4 - Year to date
31-Mar-09

Q3 - Year to date
31-Dec-08

Q2 - Year to date
30-Sep-08

Q1 - Year to date
30-Jun-08

INCOME

Contributions 1 728,782,603 483,163,029 333,178,269 149,075,199

Investment	income	(losses) 2 -575,376,082 -377,350,528 -333,932,182 -147,266,646

Other income 3 67,056,285 23,131,204 16,379,787 9,895,527

Total income 220,462,806 128,943,705 15,625,874 11,704,080

EXPENSES

Benefits	paid 4 472,933,087 289,216,363 165,118,801 69,178,597

Premiums	paid 26,294,248 20,053,628 12,495,212 7,791,375

Professional	fees	paid 5 42,026,633 31,918,666 21,570,951 11,130,420

Regulatory	levies	and	service	fees 6,627,120 5,816,311 5,809,311 -

Administration	expenses 6 55,929,218 44,125,504 28,476,833 13,946,564

Total expenses 603,810,306 391,130,472 233,471,108 102,046,956

Excess of expenses over income -383,347,499 -262,186,767 -217,845,234 -90,342,876

INDUSTRY FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

RETIREMENT FUNDS 

As already mentioned in the licensing section, 
registration of retirement funds continued 
during	 the	 year	 under	 review.	 However,	 the	
collection	 of	 financial	 data	 through	 quarterly	
returns lagged behind due to funds being 
slow	 in	 submissions.	 In	 an	 attempt	 to	 obtain	
meaningful and current financial industry data 
on	 retirement	 funds,	 a	 request	was	 sent	 to	 all	
registered retirement funds, and unregistered 
funds	 who	 have	 already	 applied	 with	 RIRF,	 to	
provide	 key	 financial	 information.	 Assistance	
was	 sought	 from	 all	 fund	 administrators	 and	
investment	 managers	 in	 identifying	 all	 funds	
under	 their	management	 and	 in	 providing	 the	
requested	financial	information.	

This	 exercise	 was	 very	 useful	 and	 enabled	
RIRF	to	compile	 the	 industry	figures	as	shown	
in	 the	 sections	 that	 will	 follow.	 Entities	 were	
requested	to	compile	financial	information	in	a	
cumulative	manner	 from	 quarter	 1,	 beginning	
1	 April	 2008,	 to	 quarter	 4,	 ending	 31	 March	
2009.	Comparative	 figures	 from	prior	 year	 are	
not	 available,	 since	 this	 was	 the	 first	 time	 we	
collected	comprehensive	industry	data.

Statistics	collected	show	that	the	estimated	
number	of	Swazis	who	are	members	of	
retirement	funds	was	104,000.
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The	notes	that	follow	below	analyse	each	of	the	significant	lines	above.

Note 1 – Contributions
 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Contributions

Member contributions - regular 171,420,744 135,160,936 90,204,328 45,973,888

Member	additional	voluntary	contributions 85,038 62,295 40,044 20,044

Employer	contributions 556,731,497 347,939,798 242,933,897 103,081,267

Employer	ex gratia	/extraordinary	contributions 545,324                       -                            -                            -   

Total 728,782,603 483,163,029 333,178,269 149,075,199

The	contributions	 table	 and	pie	 chart	 above	 show	 that	 the	 bulk	 of	 retirement	 funds	 contributions	 are	made	 by	
employers,	at	76.39%.	Member	contributions	make	up	23.52%,	with	only	0.01%	representing	additional	voluntary	
contributions	 by	 members.	The	 0.07%	 employer	 ex gratia contributions	 came	 out	 of	MOPADO	 (Members	 of	
parliament	and	designated	officers’	pension	fund).	

 

Note 2 –Investment Income (Losses)
Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Investment Income

Dividends 221,032,233 159,463,669 101,102,142 36,764,502

Interest 235,098,986 177,314,613 127,907,585 67,967,296

Net realised gains/losses on financial assets 516,006,807 474,853,530 355,631,927 156,127,527

Fair value adjustments through 
Income  Statement

(1,547,514,108) (1,188,982,340) (918,573,836) (408,125,971)

Total (575,376,082) (377,350,528) (333,932,182) (147,266,646)

The	table	above	indicates	that	retirement	funds	took	a	major	knock	from	the	ongoing	global	economic	crisis.	The	
total	investment	losses	recorded	by	retirement	funds	were	at	E1.5	billion,	arising	from	continuing	decrease	in	values	
of	 invested	funds.	However,	these	 losses	have	been	minimised	by	investments	 in	other	 instruments.	Investment	
income	from	dividends,	interest	and	net	realised	gains	on	financial	assets	totalled	E972	million,	bringing	the	overall	
investment	losses	to	E575	million.	

Member	contributions	-	regular		 23.52%

Member	additional	voluntary	

contributions		 0.01%

Employer	contributions		 76.39%

Employer	Ex	Gratia/Extraodinatory	

Contributions		 0.07%

0.07%

0.01%

23.52%

Contributions

76.39%
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From	the	table	above	it	 is	evident	that	other	income	is	dominated	by	the	E44	million	reversal	of	the	foreign	tax	
provision	by	a	certain	fund.	Rental	income	of	E13	million	was	earned	by	those	funds	with	property	investments.	
GLA	proceeds	represent	claim	recoveries	from	insured	group	life	policies.

Note 3 - Other Income
 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Other income

Rent 12,815,665 13,372,941 8,360,169 6,418,157

Foreign gain tax provision reversal 43,633,202 - - -

GLA proceeds 10,607,418 9,758,263 8,019,618 3,477,370

Total 67,056,285 23,131,204 16,379,787 9,895,527

Note 4 – Benefits Paid
 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Retirement	benefit	paid	(pension/annuity) 195,724,345 143,571,757 93,182,273 42,750,635

Lump	sum	benefit	paid:

On death and disability 81,507,469 31,710,245 24,339,357 9,356,834

On retirement 141,446,948 66,855,857 32,735,767 10,608,089

On	withdrawal 25,662,427 21,783,373 13,148,783 5,576,213

Transfers to other funds 335,954 287,336 287,336 -

Periodic	payments	to	beneficiaries 28,255,944 25,007,795 1,425,285 886,826

Total 472,933,087 289,216,363 165,118,801 69,178,597

Benefits	paid

The	benefits	paid	table	above	shows	that	a	total	of	E473	million	was	paid	as	retirement	benefits	during	the	period	under	
review.	The	majority	of	these	benefits	were	paid	as	periodic	payments	to	pensioners,	totalling	E195	million	and	repre-
senting	41.4%.	Lump	sum	payments	on	retirement	represent	29.9%	and	amounted	to	E141	million.	Lump	sum	payments	
on	death	and	disability	represent	17.2%	and	E81.5	million.	Lump	sum	payments	on	withdrawal	only	represent	5.4%,	and	
payments	to	beneficiaries	represent	6.0%	of	the	total	benefits	paid.

Periodic	
Payments	to	
beneficiaries 
6.0%

Retirement 
benefit paid 
Pension/
annuity)	41.4%

Lump	sum	-	
on death and 
disability	17.2%

Lump	sum	-	
on death and 
retirement	29.9%

Lump	sum	-	
on	with-
drawal	5.4%

Transfers 
to other 
funds	0.1%
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Note 5 – Professional Fees
 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Professional Fees:

Actuarial fees 607,331 453,458 330,728 142,610

Audit fees 958,405 761,604 971,903 270,912

Fund administration fees 5,711,498 4,747,477 3,041,119 1,874,242

Investment	management	fees 34,258,170 25,732,246 17,064,488 8,733,426

Legal	fees 491,229 223,881 162,713 109,230

Total 42,026,633 31,918,666 21,570,951 11,130,420

Professional fees

The	table	 and	pie	 chart	 above	 indicate	 a	 significant	portion	of	 the	professional	 fees	being	paid	 to	 investment	
managers.	A	 total	 of	 E34	million,	 representing	 82%,	was	paid	 to	 investment	managers	during	 the	 year	under	
review.	A	total	of	E5.7	million,	representing	14%,	was	paid	to	fund	administrators.

Actuarial fees

Audit fees

Fund administrations fees

Investment	management	fees

Legal	fees

14%

82%

2%1%1%
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Note 6 – Administration Expenses

Administration	expenses	of	E56	million	represents	mainly	expenses	incurred	by	self	administered	funds	such	as	PSPF,	
SNPF	and	MOPADO.
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INVESTMENT MIX OF RETIREMENT FUNDS ASSETS

The	Statement	of	Funds	and	Net	Assets	above	show	that	as	at	31	March	2009,	the	retirement	funds’	assets	totalled	
E11.4	billion.	The	following	section	analyses	investment	mix	of	both	local	and	foreign	investments.

 Quarter end
Q4 - Year to 

date
Q3 - Year to 

date
Q2 - Year to 

date
Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08
ASSETS

Fixed	assets 111,499,810 111,260,205 109,210,594 102,379,780

Investments 10,054,069,320 9,009,934,728 9,079,644,252 9,246,632,586

Current assets   

Account	receivable 33,762,576 48,074,271 49,424,917 38,730,074

Arrear contributions 85,030,342 95,238,310 54,281,610 58,665,727

Bank	and	cash 202,485,120 64,002,836 78,362,000 97,283,961

Money	market	and	short	term	securities 926,352,811 856,842,713 820,354,553 783,983,624

Total assets 11,413,199,979 10,185,353,063 10,191,277,926 10,327,675,752

FUNDS

Liability	for	future	benefits	&	Surpluses 11,205,430,075 10,045,679,733 10,061,332,119 10,197,870,530

Current liabilities   

Benefits	payable 160,329,533 67,850,843 57,700,949 57,463,472

Accounts payable 47,440,371 71,822,487 72,244,858 72,341,750

Total funds and liabilities 11,413,199,979 10,185,353,063 10,191,277,926 10,327,675,752

RETIREMENT FUNDS INDUSTRY SUMMARY 
STATEMENT OF FUNDS AND ASSETS

31 Mar 2009

Total	local	investments	 						2,152,516,516

Total	foreign	investments	 						9,260,683,463

TOTAL INVESTMENTS (E) 11,413,199,979

%	Local	investments	to	total	investments 19%

%	Foreign	investments	to	total	investments 81%

TOTAL INVESTMENT - % 100%

RETIREMENT FUNDS - LOCAL VS FOREIGN ASSETS
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LOCAL ASSETS
TYPE OF INVESTMENT AMOUNT INVESTED % OF TOTAL ASSETS

Swaziland	Stock	Exchange	–	SSX 264,627,798 2.3%

Bonds 49,444,577 0.4%

Property 317,525,125 2.8%

Cash	and	money	market	instruments 1,106,001,876 9.7%

Treasury bills 9,273,151 0.1%

Other balance sheet assets 405,643,989 3.6%

Total Local Assets 2,152,516,516 19%

FOREIGN INVESTMENTS
TYPE OF INVESTMENT AMOUNT INVESTED % OF TOTAL ASSETS

Johannesburg	Stock	Exchange	-	JSE 5,356,864,364	 46.9%

Offshore	equities 							128,599,048	 1.1%

Bonds	exchange	of	South	Africa 											929,793,035	 8.1%

Offshore	bonds 																		9,528,797	 0.1%

Commodities	-	Gold	ETF 										357,130,487	 3.1%

Orbis Mutual Funds 				1,258,899,774	 11.0%

Cash	and	money	market	instruments 					1,219,867,958	 10.7%

Total Foreign Assets     9,260,683,463 81%

Cash and Money Market 
instruments, E1,106,001,876

Property
E317,525,125

Bonds, E49,444,577

Swaziland Stock
Exchange - SSX
E264,627,798

Fixed assets, 
E405,643,989Treasury Bills, 

E9,273,151

The	table	above	shows	that	only	19%	was	invested	in	Swaziland	as	at	31	March	2009.	This	is	1%	below	the	20%	that	
was	required	by	the	regulations.	The	table	above	also	shows	that	51%	or	E1.1	billion	is	invested	in	cash	and	money	
market	instruments	via	the	commercial	banks.
 
RIRF	is	aware	that	practically	this	cash,	once	deposited	with	the	banks,	soon	finds	its	way	back	to	South	Africa.	
RIRF	and	the	Central	Bank	of	Swaziland	are	discussing	steps	that	might	be	taken	to	retain	more	of	these	funds	
locally,	as	intended	by	the	legislation.
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FOREIGN INVESTMENTS

The	table	and	pie	chart	above	show	that	47%	of	total	retirement	funds	assets	are	invested	in	the	Johannesburg	
Stock	 Exchange	 (JSE)	 and	 another	 1.1%	were	 invested	 in	 offshore	 shares.	 It	 is	 not	 surprising,	 therefore,	 that	
investment	losses	relating	to	the	fall	in	equity	values	were	significant,	at	E1.5	billion.

INSURANCE FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

LONG TERM INSURANCE BUSINESS

As	at	31	March	2009,	there	were	6	long	term	insurers	operating	in	Swaziland,	namely:

•	 Swaziland	Royal	Insurance	Corporation	(SRIC);

•	 Liberty	Life	Swaziland;	

•	 Old	Mutual	Swaziland;

•	 Metropolitan	Life	Swaziland;

•	 PFM	Swaziland;	and

•	 Momentum	Life	Swaziland.	

The	following	sections	outline	how	the	long	term	insurance	industry	performed	during	the	year	to	31	March	2009.	

The	same	process	used	 in	collecting	retirement	 funds	financial	data	was	used	 for	 insurers.	 Insurers	were	given	

prescribed	forms	to	fill	in	financial	data	cumulatively	from	quarter	1	beginning	1	April	2008	to	quarter	4	ending	

31	March	2009.

Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange _JSE 

E5,356,864,364

Cash and money 
market

investments, 
E1,219,857,958

Orbis Mutual
Funds, 

E1,219,867,958

Commodities _ Gold
ETF, E357,130,487

Offshore bonds, 
E9,528,797

Bonds exchange 
of South Africa 
E929,793,035

Offshore equities, 
E128,599,048
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 Quarter end

Notes Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Premiums received

Insurance	premiums	revenue 1 150,323,166 95,669,241 59,517,798 23,571,150

Less:	 (Insurance	 Premiums	 ceded	 to	
reinsures)

-16,113,278 -14,600,401 -5,491,289 -4,472,943

Net insurance premiums revenue 134,209,888 81,068,840 54,026,509 19,098,207

Fee Income 2,053,293 1,762,059 1,144,149 487,446

Investment	Income/(losses) 2 -12,747,103 615,309 1,771,671 5,819,412

Other operating income 3 15,605,605 11,603,129 7,675,044 3,762,710

Net income (A) 139,121,683 95,049,337 64,617,373 29,167,775

Net insurance benefits and claims 4 -115,425,198 -74,778,374 -30,383,207 -14,875,115

  

Expenses	for	the	acquisition	of	
insurance	and	investment	contracts

-11,758,391 -8,389,945 -2,054,345 -834,260

Expenses	for	marketing	and	
administration

-18,351,606 -13,877,352 -4,172,236 -2,102,513

Other operating expenses -27,526,065 -22,720,031 -10,590,741 -4,800,337

Total expenses (B) -173,061,260 -119,765,702 -47,200,529 -22,612,225

Profit before tax -33,939,577 -24,716,365 17,416,844 6,555,550

 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Whole life assurance 50,472,065 37,296,546 24,731,224 12,273,895

Term assurance 728,000 588,000 - -

Group life assurance 35,488,818 20,374,088 10,142,267 5,505,398

Capital disability assurance 940,811 22,854 34,656 -

Retirement fund annuity 12,743,653 9,591,179 6,331,120 3,182,213

Group funeral 11,298,278 8,134,186 5,335,130 2,609,644

Fund business 38,193,539 19,662,386 12,943,401 -

Income disability insurance 458,002 - - -

TOTAL PREMIUM INCOME 150,323,166 95,669,241 59,517,798 23,571,150

LONG TERM INSURANCE – INDUSTRY INCOME STATEMENT

Note 1 – Insurance Premiums

The	key	highlight	of	the	income	statement	above	is	the	fact	that	the	long	term	insurance	sector	made	a	loss	of	
E34	million	during	the	year	under	review.	The	loss	is	mainly	attributable	to	the	investment	losses	accompanied	by	
increases	in	insurance	liabilities.

The	next	notes	will	break	down	the	make	up	of	the	key	lines	above.
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 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Interest income 64,561,917 62,418,749 43,837,529 22,518,912

Net	fair	value	losses	on	financial	assets	
at	fair	value	through	the	profit	or	loss

-77,309,020 -61,803,440 -42,065,858 -16,699,500

 Total investment income -12,747,103 615,309 1,771,671 5,819,412

Note 2 – Investment Losses

INSURANCE PREMIUMS REVENUE

Whole life assurance 33.6%

Terms assurance 0.5%

Group Life Assurance 23.6%

Capital Disability Assurance 0.6%

Retirement Fund annuity 8.5%

Group Funeral 7.5%

Fund Business 25.4%

Income disability insurance 0.3%

33.6%

33.6%

25.4%

7.5%

8.5%

0.5%

23.6%

0.6%

The	premium	income	analysis	above	shows	that	a	total	of	E150	million	premiums	were	collected	by	long	term	
insurers	during	the	year	under	review.	The	most	sold	class	of	business	was	the	whole	life	assurance	business	which	
represents	 33.6%.	Group	 life	 assurance	 business	 represents	 23.6%	of	 the	 premium	 income.	Retirement	 Funds	
business	represents	25.4%.	Other	classes	of	business	represent	the	remaining	17.4%.	

The	income	statement	shows	that	out	of	the	E150	million	premium	income,	E16	million	was	ceded	to	reinsurance	
companies.	This	represents	only	11%	of	the	premiums,	and	leaves	the	long	term	insurers	with	E134	million	net	
premium	income.

The	 table	 above	 shows	 that	 the	 long	 term	 insurance	 business	 also	 took	 a	 knock	 in	 investment	 losses	 arising	
from	the	ongoing	global	economic	crisis.	Total	losses	of	E77	million	were	recorded.	However,	these	losses	were	
minimised	by	investments	in	interest	bearing	instruments,	which	earned	the	industry	E65	million,	reducing	the	

overall	investment	losses	to	only	E12.7	million.

Note 3: Other Operating Income

Other	income	of	E16	million	was	derived	from	administration	fees,	rental	income	and	interest	on	policy	loans
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 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

a) Insurance benefits and claims

Death, maturity and surrender benefits -59,692,034 -42,852,020 -26,642,873 -13,094,732

Increase in liabilities -41,936,242 -28,574,821 -643,719 -

Pension	&	Retirement	Claims -16,019,699 -5,299,333 -4,377,522 -2,317,844

Reinsurance	recoveries 2,222,777 1,947,800 1,280,740 537,461

Total cost of policy holder benefits -115,425,198 -74,778,374 -30,383,374 -14,875,115

Note 4: Insurance Benefits And Claims

INSURANCE BENEFITS AND CLAIMS

Death, maturity
and surrender 
benefits - 52%

Increase in 
liabilities - 36%

Pension & 
Retirement Claims 14%

As	represented	above,	benefits	and	claims,	net	of	reinsurance	recoveries,	totalled	E115	million	during	the	year	
under	review.	52%	of	these	were	paid	in	respect	of	death,	maturity	and	surrender	benefits.	Increase	in	liabilities	
represented	36%,	and	pensions	and	retirement	claims	in	respect	of	insured	retirement	funds	represented	14%.
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 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

ASSETS

Property,	plant	and	equipment 5,260,889 5,506,278 2,980,654 2,788,405

Investment	property 40,000,000 40,000,000 37,500,000 37,500,000

Intangible assets 437,531 500,025 541,688 604,181

Financial assets 498,828,748 513,007,135 493,919,062 475,895,864

Loans	and	receivables	 41,809,243 36,351,627 34,487,387 41,700,137

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 81,355,968 36,005,914 36,254,972 21,895,757

Total assets 667,692,379 631,370,979 605,683,763 580,384,344

EQUITY

Capital	and	reserves     

Ordinary shares 12,000,200 12,000,200 3,000,100 3,000,000

Share premium 19,999,800 19,999,800 - -

Other	reserves 45,698,420 46,006,303 41,022,342 40,892,586

Retained earnings (33,939,576) (24,716,365) 17,416,845 6,555,550

Total equity 43,758,844 53,289,938 61,439,287 50,448,136

LIABILITIES

Insurance	contracts/policy	holders'	
liabilities

584,039,493 545,265,546 501,448,789 519,304,134

Trade and other payables 39,894,042 32,815,495 42,795,687 10,632,074

Total liabilities 623,933,535 578,081,041 544,244,476 529,936,208

Total equity and liabilities 667,692,379 631,370,979 605,683,763 580,384,344

LONG TERM INSURANCE – INDUSTRY BALANCE SHEET

A	key	highlight	of	the	balance	sheet	is	that	the	long	term	insurance	sector	has	total	assets	of	E668	million,	backing	
E584	million	of	policyholder	liabilities.

An	 analysis	 of	 how	 these	 assets	 have	 been	 invested	will	 be	 discussed	 in	 the	 Investments	 section	 later	 in	 the	
document.
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 Quarter end

Notes Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Premiums received

Insurance	premiums	revenue 1 382,425,415 313,930,390 238,695,655 80,202,160

Less:	 (insurance	 premiums	 ceded	 to	
reinsurers)

1 -129,628,870 -114,134,041 -89,640,222 -31,398,933

Net insurance premiums revenue 252,796,545 199,796,349 149,055,433 48,803,227

Fee income from reinsurance 
contracts 

2 26,029,233 22,824,087 17,417,310 6,378,307

Investment	income 3 -15,968,855 -17,867,251 -17,586,080 -9,001,182

Other operating income 4 6,733,039 5,598,259 3,823,533 1,853,355

Net income (A) 269,589,962 210,351,444 152,710,196 48,033,707

Insurance claims and loss adjustment 
expenses

5 -115,129,535 -77,156,375 -48,765,637 -20,431,811

Less:	(insurance	claims	and	loss	
adjustment	expenses	recovered	from	
reinsurers)

5 4,583,583 1,238,422 1,971,828 577,150

Net insurance claims -110,545,952 -75,917,953 -46,793,809 -19,854,661

  

Expenses	for	the	acquisition	of	
insurance contracts (Commission)

6 -36,005,570 -28,388,174 -19,854,954 -10,378,535

Expenses	for	marketing	and	
administration

6 -3,050,836 -2,439,540 -1,701,185 -659,096

Other	operating	expenses 7 -38,578,439 -31,193,035 -18,997,243 -7,232,084

Total expenses (B) -188,180,797 -137,938,702 -87,347,191 -38,124,376

    

Profit before tax 81,409,165 72,412,742 65,363,005 9,909,331

Less:	(income	tax	expense) -5,978,216 -5,978,216 - -

Net profit for the year 75,430,949 66,434,526 65,363,004 9,909,331

SHORT TERM INSURANCE 
INCOME STATEMENT

SHORT TERM INSURANCE BUSINESS

As	 at	 31	 March	 2009,	 only	 one	 short	 term	 insurer,	 Swaziland	 Royal	 Insurance	 Corporation	 (SRIC)	 was	 in	 
operation,	thus	the	financial	information	for	short	term	insurance	represents	that	one	company.

The	key	highlight	from	the	income	statement	above	is	the	fact	that	the	short	term	business	was	profitable	during	
the	year,	earning	a	net	profit	of	E75.4	million.	
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 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Short-term insurance contracts:

Premium	receivable 382,359,888 328,049,689 254,739,457 89,083,031

Change	in	unearned	premium	provision 65,527 -14,119,298 -16,043,802 -8,880,871

Premium revenue arising from 
insurance contracts

382,425,415 313,930,391 238,695,655 80,202,160

Less:	Premiums	ceded	to	short	term	
reinsurers

-129,628,870 -114,134,041 -89,640,222 -31,398,933

Net insurance premium revenue 252,796,545 199,796,350 149,055,433 48,803,227

 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Policy administration  services:

Commission	Received	–	Facultative 15,881,763 14,297,159 11,001,363 3,839,051

Commission	Received	-	Overseas	&	FAC 10,147,470 8,526,928 6,415,947 2,539,256

    
Total fee income 26,029,233 22,824,087 17,417,310 6,378,307

 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Dividend	income 146,500 146,500 - -

Interest income 54,103,962 48,639,584 32,451,020 10,589,293

Net	fair	value	gains	on	financial	assets	at	
fair	value	through	the	profit	or	loss

-70,219,317 -59,952,939 -50,037,100 -15,089,884

Total investment income -15,968,855 -11,166,855 -17,586,080 -4,500,591

Note 1:  Premium Revenue

Note 2: Fee Income

Note 3: Investment Income

Gross	premiums	received	during	the	year	totalled	E382	million,	out	of	which	E130	million	was	ceded	to	reinsurers.	
Reinsurance	premiums	represent	34%	of	gross	premiums	received.

Out	of	the	reinsurance	premiums	ceded,	the	insurer	earned	total	commission	of	E26	million	as	shown	in	the	table	
above.

The	 table	 above	 shows	 that	 the	 short	 term	 insurance	business	 also	 took	 a	 knock	 in	 investment	 losses	 arising	
from	the	ongoing	global	economic	crisis.	Total	losses	of	E70	million	were	recorded.	However,	these	losses	were	
minimised	by	investments	in	interest	bearing	instruments,	which	earned	the	industry	E54	million,	reducing	the	
overall	investment	losses	to	only	E16	million.
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 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Rental income 489,372 489,372 - -

Asset disposal 31,045 31,045                  31,045                 31,045 

Administration fees 5,013,353 3,878,573 2,593,219 1,298,339

Sundry income 1,199,269 1,199,269 1,199,269 523,971

Total other Operating Income 6,733,039 5,598,259 3,823,533 1,853,355

 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Current year claims and loss 
adjustment expenses

Gross insurance claims (122,627,234) (84,654,074) (48,765,638) (20,431,811)

Change	in	provisions	for	claims 7,497,699 7,497,699                       -                         -   

(115,129,535) (77,156,375) (48,765,638) (20,431,811)

Reinsurance recoveries

Gross	reinsurance	recoveries 10,304,204 									6,959,044	 									1,971,828	           577,150 

Less:	change	in	Provision	for	reinsurance	
recoveries

(5,720,622) 								(5,720,622)	                         -                      -   

4,583,582 1,238,422 1,971,828 577,150

Net insurance claims        (110,545,953)            (75,917,953) (46,793,810)  (19,854,661) 

Note 4: Other Operating Income

Note 5: Insurance Claims

Other	income	of	E6.7	million	was	derived	from	administration	fees,	rental	income,	disposal	of	assets	and	other	
sundry	income.

As	at	31	March	2009,	the	net	insurance	claims	totalled	E110	million,	made	up	of	gross	claims	of	E115	million	less	
expected	reinsurance	recoveries	of	E5	million.
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 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

a) Expenses for the acquisition of 
insurance contract (commission paid):

36,005,570 28,388,174 19,854,954 10,378,535

    
Total commission paid 36,005,570 28,388,174 19,854,954 10,378,535

b) Marketing and administrative 
expenses

    

Marketing	and	administrative	expenses 924,745 848,333 609,013 290,446

Depreciation 1,210,525 896,311 604,035 133,407

Other	administration	expenses 915,566 694,896 488,137 235,243

    

Total marketing and administrative 
expenses

3,050,836 2,439,540 1,701,185 659,096

 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

Employee	benefits	expenses 15,343,489 11,061,303 7,187,408 3,535,122	

Purchases	of	goods	and	services 6,742,170 5,602,903 4,571,205 2,184,469
Operating lease rentals 456,337 335,989 242,692 119,595

Software	costs 4,107,392 2,869,409 1,723,349 723,768
Directors	fess	&	travel 497,905 434,800 319,767 171,210

Staff	profit	share 4,794,692 4,252,177 - -

35 years celebration 2,295,920 2,295,920 1,492,485                       -   

RIRF	levy	fees 3,146,764 3,146,764 3,146,764                        -   

Audit fees 1,193,770 1,193,770 313,573 497,920

    

Total other expenses 38,578,439 31,193,035 18,997,243 7,232,084

Note 6 :  Commission and Marketing Expenses

Note 7: Other Administration Expenses

The	insurer	paid	a	total	of	E36	million	in	commission	and	a	total	of	E3	million	in	marketing	and	administration	
expenses	during	the	year.

The	insurer	paid	a	total	of	E36	million	in	commission	and	a	total	of	E3	million	in	marketing	and	administration	
expenses	during	the	year.
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OTHER ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Employee	benefits	expenses	40%
Purchases	of	goods	and	services	18%
Operating	lease	rentals	 1%
Software	costs		 11%
Directors	fees	&	Travel		 1%
Staff	Profit	share		 12%
35	Years	Celebration		 6%

3%8%
6%

12%

11%
18%

40%

1%

1%

The	table	and	pie	chart	above	show	the	other	expenses	incurred	in	running	the	short	term	insurance	business,	the	
biggest	being	staff	costs	at	E15.3	million	and	staff	profit	share	of	E5	million.	When	combined,	these	two	cost	lines	
represent	52%	of	other	administration	expenses.

 Quarter end

Q4 - Year to date Q3 - Year to date Q2 - Year to date Q1 - Year to date

31-Mar-09 31-Dec-08 30-Sep-08 30-Jun-08

ASSETS  

Property, plant and equipment 27,070,473 26,995,722 21,950,113 22,935,779

Intangible assets including intangible 
insurance assets

333,350 333,350  

Financial assets 228,536,800 225,240,381 212,189,828 219,889,400

Available	for	sale 4,504,467 3,504,467 3,500,063 3,500,063

Deferred	Acquisition	Cost 7,223,759 6,804,681 7,278,266 6,814,809

Loans	and	receivables	including	insurance	
receivables

70,615,553 70,615,553 - - 

Reinsurance	contracts/Assets 66,393,623 66,393,623 52,123,684 47,340,288

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 46,917,638 51,898,630 47,457,721 40,733,368

Total assets 451,595,663 451,786,407 344,499,675 341,213,707

EQUITY

Ordinary shares 4,000,000 4,000,000 1,500,000 1,500,000

Revaluation	reserves 13,803,254 13,803,255 - -

Retained earnings 252,783,636 243,787,213 242,715,691 194,729,855

Total equity 270,586,890 261,590,468 244,215,691 196,229,855

LIABILITIES

Insurance	contracts/policy	holders'	liabilities 159,960,660 169,147,826 92,170,318 148,289,340

Provisions	for	other	liabilities	and	charges 6,087,260 6,087,260 7,467,837 7,467,837

Trade and other payables 9,628,464 9,628,464 - -

Deferred	income	tax (820,642) (820,642) (15,785,346) (10,773,325)

Current	income	tax	liabilities 6,153,031 6,153,031 16,431,175 -

Total liabilities 181,008,773 190,195,939 100,283,984 144,983,852

Total equity and liabilities 451,595,663 451,786,407 344,499,675 341,213,707

SHORT TERM INSURANCE - BALANCE SHEET
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LOCAL INVESTMENTS

The	table	and	pie	chart	above	show	that	the	insurance	industry	met	its	local	investment	requirement	at	41.5%.	As	
at	31	March	2009	the	minimum	local	investment	requirement	was	at	20%	and	the	insurers	exceeded	it	by	22%.	
This	is	very	commendable	of	the	insurers.

The	balance	sheet	above	reflects	that	the	short	term	business	sector	had	total	assets	of	E452	million	as	at	31	March	
2009.	The	following	section	analyses	asset	mix	for	both	the	short	term	and	long	term	industry	combined.

INVESTMENT MIX OF THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY

31 Mar 2009
Total	local	investments	        465,071,828 
Total	foreign	investments	 							654,216,214	

TOTAL INVESTMENTS (E) 1,119,288,042

%	Local	investments	to	total	investments 41.5%

%	Foreign	investments	to	total	investments 58.5%

TOTAL INVESTMENT (%) 100%

TYPE OF INVESTMENT Amounts Invested % of Total Assets

Swaziland Stock Exchange – SSX 7,945,660 0.7%

Bonds 5,000,000 0.4%

Property 67,777,778 6.1%

Cash and money market instruments 142,467,000 12.7%

Treasury bills 4,087,168 0.4%

Other balance sheet assets 237,794,222 21.2%

 

Total local investments – Insurance 465,071,828 41.5%

LONG TERM AND SHORT TERM INSURANCE  - LOCAL VS FOREIGN ASSETS

LOCAL INVESTMENTS

Cash and Money 
Market

instruments, 
E142,467,000

Fixed Assets,
E237,794,222

Treasury bills, E4,087,168

Swaziland Stock Exchange -
SSX, E7,945,660

Property, 
E67,777,778

Bonds, E5,000,000
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FOREIGN INVESTMENTS

The	table	and	pie	chart	above	show	that	32%	of	total	 insurance	assets	are	 invested	 in	the	Johannesburg	Stock	
Exchange	(JSE)	and	another	3.4%	are	invested	in	offshore	shares.	

TYPE OF INVESTMENT Amounts invested % of total assets

Johannesburg Stock Exchange - JSE           356,589,838 31.9%

Offshore equities             38,457,690 3.4%

Bonds	exchange	of	South	Africa           121,861,683 10.9%

Offshore bonds             15,141,042 1.4%

Cash	and	money	market	instruments 										122,165,961	 10.9%

Total foreign investments - Insurance          654,216,214 58.5%

FOREIGN INVESTMENTS

Johannesburg Stock
Exchange - 

JSE, E356,589,838
Bonds exchange of

South Africa,
E121,861,683

Cash and money market
instruments, E122,165,961

Offshare bonds,
E15,141,042

Offshore equities,
E38,457,690



The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2009

Contents  Page

Report of the independent Auditors  42 - 43

The	Registrar’s	approval	and	statement	of	responsibility		 44

Balance	sheet		 45

Income	statement		 46

Statement	of	changes	in	equity		 47

Cash	flow	statement		 48

Accounting	policies		 49	-	56

Notes	to	the	financial	statements		 57	-	58

The	following	supplementary	information	does	not	form	part	of	the	financial	statements	and	is

Unaudited:

Detailed	income	statement		 59

Tax	computation		 60

General	Information	 	 61

41Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds



The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds
Report of the Independent Auditors

Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds42

To the Minister of Finance

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	The	Office	of	the	Registrar	of	Insurance	and	
Retirement	Funds	(RIRF),	which	comprise	the	balance	sheet	as	at	31	March	2009,	the	income	statement,	
the	statement	of	changes	 in	equity	and	cash	flow	statement	 for	 the	year	 then	ended,	a	 summary	of	
significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	notes,	as	set	out	on	pages	44	to	58.

The Registrar’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The	RIRF’s	management	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	 preparation	 and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 these	 financial	
statements	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	and	in	the	manner	required	
by	 the	 Insurance	 Act	 of	 2005	 and	 Retirement	 Act	 of	 2005.	This	 responsibility	 includes:	 designing,	
implementing	 and	maintaining	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	preparation	 and	 fair	 presentation	of	
financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error;	selecting	
and	applying	appropriate	accounting	policies;	and	making	accounting	estimates	that	are	reasonable	in	
the	circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our	 responsibility	 is	 to	 express	 an	 opinion	 on	 these	 financial	 statements	 based	 on	 our	 audit.	We	
conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	International	Standards	on	Auditing.	Those	standards	require	
that	we	comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	
whether	the	financial	statements	are	free	from	material	misstatement.

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	
in	the	financial	statements.	The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditors’	judgement,	including	the	
assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	
error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	internal	control	relevant	to	the	entity’s	
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that	 are	appropriate	 in	 the	circumstances,	but	not	 for	 the	purpose	of	 expressing	an	opinion	on	 the	
effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	
accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	
as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	
our	audit	opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of	the	RIRF	as	of	31	March	2009,	and	of	its	financial	performance	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	
ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	and	in	the	manner	required	by	
the	Insurance	Act	of	2005	and	Retirement	Act	of	2005.

Supplementary Information

We	draw	your	attention	to	the	fact	that	the	supplementary	information	set	out	on	pages	59	to	60	does	
not	 form	part	 of	 the	 financial	 statements	 and	 is	 presented	 as	 additional	 information.	We	 have	 not	
audited	this	information	and	accordingly	do	not	express	an	opinion	thereon.

Kobla	Quashie	and	Associates	27	May	2009
Chartered	Accountants	(Swaziland)
Manzini
Daniel	Bediako
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Management	 is	 required	 by	 the	 Insurance	 Act	 of	 2005	 and	 Retirement	 Act	 of	 2005,	 to	 maintain	 adequate	
accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial 
information	included	in	this	report.	It	is	their	responsibility	to	ensure	that	the	financial	statements	fairly	present	
the	state	of	affairs	of	the	RIRF	as	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	and	the	results	of	its	operations	and	cash	flows	
for	the	period	then	ended,	in	conformity	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.	The	external	auditors	
are	engaged	to	express	an	independent	opinion	on	the	financial	statements.

The	financial	statements	are	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	are	
based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments	and	estimates.	

Management	acknowledges	its	ultimate	responsibility	for	the	system	of	internal	financial	control	established	by	
the	RIRF	and	place	considerable	importance	on	maintaining	a	strong	control	environment.	To	enable	the	RIRF	
to	meet	these	responsibilities,	management	sets	standards	for	internal	control	aimed	at	reducing	the	risk	of	error	
or	loss	in	a	cost	effective	manner.	The	standards	include	the	proper	delegation	of	responsibilities	within	a	clearly	
defined	framework,	effective	accounting	procedures	and	adequate	segregation	of	duties	to	ensure	an	acceptable	
level	of	 risk.	These	 controls	 are	monitored	 throughout	 the	RIRF	and	all	 employees	 are	 required	 to	maintain	
the	highest	ethical	standards	 in	ensuring	the	RIRF’s	business	 is	conducted	 in	a	manner	that	 in	all	 reasonable	
circumstances	is	above	reproach.	The	focus	of	risk	management	in	the	RIRF	is	on	identifying,	assessing,	managing	
and	monitoring	all	known	forms	of	risk	across	the	RIRF.	While	operating	risk	cannot	be	fully	eliminated,	the	RIRF	
endeavors	to	minimise	it	by	ensuring	that	appropriate	infrastructure,	controls,	systems	and	ethical	behaviour	are	
applied	and	managed	within	predetermined	procedures	and	constraints.

Management	is	of	the	opinion,	based	on	the	information	and	explanations	given	by	management,	that	the	system	
of	internal	control	provides	reasonable	assurance	that	the	financial	records	may	be	relied	on	for	the	preparation	
of	the	financial	statements.	However,	any	system	of	internal	financial	control	can	provide	only	reasonable,	and	
not	absolute,	assurance	against	material	misstatement	or	loss.

Management	has	reviewed	the	RIRF’s	cash	flow	forecast	for	the	year	to	31	March	2010	and,	in	the	light	of	this	
review	and	the	current	financial	position,	they	are	satisfied	that	the	RIRF	has	or	has	access	to	adequate	resources	
to	continue	in	operational	existence	for	the	foreseeable	future.

The	external	auditors	are	responsible	for	independently	reviewing	and	reporting	on	the	RIRF’s	financial	statements.	
The	financial	statements	have	been	examined	by	the	RIRF’s	external	auditors	and	their	report	is	presented	on	page	
42	to	43.

The	financial	statements	set	out	on	pages	44	to	58,	which	have	been	prepared	on	the	going	concern	basis,	were	
approved	by	the	management	on	27	May	2009	and	were	signed	on	its	behalf	by:

Registrar                       Finance and Adminstration Manager

The Registrar’s Approval and Statement of Responsibility
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Figures	in	Emalangeni		 Note(s)  2009  2008

 

Property,	plant	and	equipment		 3		 2,002,981  1,573,629

Current Assets

Trade	and	other	receivables		 4		 1,576,284 	 276,805

Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 5		 12,673,225 	 6,192,904

  14,249,509  6,469,709

Total Assets   16,252,490  8,043,338

Equity and Fund balances

Guaranteed	fund		 6		 20,473  -

Deferred grant income  7  11,141,429		 7,141,429

Retained income   4,617,075 	 671,483

  15,778,977  7,812,912

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade	and	other	payables		 8		 473,513		 230,426

Total Equity and Liabilities   16,252,490  8,043,338

Balance Sheet
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Figures	in	Emalangeni		 Note(s)		 2009		 2008

Income   17,240,109		 15,671,482

Operating	expenses		 	 (9,294,517) 	 (7,858,570)

Operating profit  2  7,945,592  7,812,912

Deferred	government	grant		 	 (4,000,000)		 (7,141,429)

Profit for the year   3,945,592  671,483

Income Statement
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Figures in Emalangeni Guaranteed Designated Retained Total equity

 Fund Funds Income

Balance at 01 April 2007

Changes	in	equity

Profit	for	the	year		 	 	 671,483		 671,483

Transferred	to	designated	funds		 	 7,141,429		 	 7,141,429

Total	changes		 	 7,141,429		 671,483		 7,812,912

Balance at 01 April 2008   7,141,429  671,483  7,812,912

Changes	in	equity

Profit	for	the	year		 	 	 3,945,592		 3,945,592

Transferred to designated funds   4,000,000   4,000,000

Guaranteed fund  20,473    20,473

Total	changes		 20,473		 4,000,000		 3,945,592		 7,966,065

Balance at 31 March 2009  20,473  11,141,429  4,617,075  15,778,977

Statement of Changes in Equity
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Figures in Emalangeni   Note(s)  2009  2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash	generated	from	operations		 	 11		 3,216,735		 851,975

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 3		 (930,817)		 (1,800,502)

Sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 3		 173,930  -

Net cash from investing activities    (756,887)  (1,800,502)

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Net	movement	on	guaranteed	fund		 	 6		 20,473  -

Increase in designated funds    4,000,000		 7,141,431

Net cash from financing activities    4,020,473  7,141,431

Total	cash	movement	for	the	year	 	 	 6,480,321  6,192,904

Cash at the beginning of the year    6,192,904  -

Total cash at end of the year   5  12,673,225  6,192,904

Cash Flow Statement
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1. Presentation of Financial Statements

Background Information

The	Office	 of	 the	 Registrar	 of	 Insurance	 and	 Retirement	 Funds	 (RIRF)	 is	 a	Government	 parastatal	
established	by	the	Insurance	Act	of	2005	and	the	Retirement	Act	of	2005.	RIRF	was	established	on	1	
November	2006	and	planning	for	the	setting	of	the	office	began	in	September	2006.

RIRF is a regulatory body established to regulate the Insurance and Retirement Funds Industry in the 
Kingdom	of	Swaziland.	RIRF’s	mandate	is	to	ensure	that	all	local	insurers	and	retirement	funds	comply	
with	Insurance	and	Retirement	Funds	Acts,	enforce	that	30%	of	the	insurers	and	retirement	funds	assets	
be	invested	locally	and	ultimately	to	protect	the	consumer	i.e.	the	average	Swazi	from	exploitation	by	
the industry players.

This	office	currently	reports	directly	to	the	Minister	of	Finance	as	there	is	no	Governing	Board	but	only	
the	Insurance	and	Retirement	Funds	Board	is	in	place.

The	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	incorporate	the	following:

s Registrar’s	Levies	Account	as	per	Sections	37	and	38	of	the	Insurance	Act	2005;
s The	Registrar‘s	Guarantee	Account	as	per	Sect	ions	41	and	42	of	the	Insurance	Act	2005	and;	
s The	Insurance	and	Retirement	Trust	Fund	as	per	Sections	43	and	44	of	the	Insurance	Act	2005.

The	 following	 are	 the	 principal	 accounting	 policies	 adopted	 in	 the	 preparation	 of	 these	 financial	
statements	as	set	out	below.	These	policies	have	been	consistently	applied	in	all	material	respects	with	
those	of	the	previous	year,	unless	otherwise	stated.

Basis of preparation

The	financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	
Standards	(IFRS).	The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	under	the	historical	cost	convention,	
as	modified	by	the	revaluation	of	available-for-sale	financial	assets,	and	financial	assets	and	financial	
liabilities	(including	derivative	instruments)	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.

The	preparation	of	financial	 statements	 in	 conformity	with	 IFRS	 requires	 the	use	of	 certain	 critical	
accounting	estimates.	It	also	requires	management	to	exercise	its	judgment	in	the	process	of	applying	
RIRF	 accounting	 policies.	 Although	 these	 estimates	 are	 based	 on	 management	 best	 knowledge	 of	
current	events	and	actions,	actual	results	ultimately	may	differ	from	those	estimates.

Accounting Policies
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1.1 Property, plant and equipment

The	cost	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	recognised	as	an	asset	when:
 s		 it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	Fund;		 	
  and
 s		 the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.

Costs	include	costs	incurred	initially	to	acquire	or	construct	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	
costs	incurred	subsequently	to	add	to,	replace	part	of,	or	service	it.	If	a	replacement	cost	is	recognised	in	the	
carrying	amount	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	the	carrying	amount	of	the	replaced	part	is	
derecognised.

The	initial	estimate	of	the	costs	of	dismantling	and	removing	the	item	and	restoring	the	site	on	which	it	is	
located	is	also	included	in	the	cost	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.
 Item  Rate
	 Furniture	and	fixtures		 10%
	 Office	equipment		 10%
	 IT	equipment		 33.33%

The	residual	value	and	the	useful	life	of	each	asset	are	reviewed	at	each	financial	period-end.
Each	part	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	with	a	cost	that	is	significant	in	relation	to	the	total	cost	
of	the	item	shall	be	depreciated	separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount	of	another	asset.

The	gain	or	loss	arising	from	the	derecognition	of	an	item	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	included	in	
profit	or	loss	when	the	item	is	derecognised.	The	gain	or	loss	arising	from	the	derecognition	of	an	item	of	
property,	plant	and	equipment	is	determined	as	the	difference	between	the	net	disposal	proceeds,	if	any,	and	
the	carrying	amount	of	the	item.

1.2 Impairment of assets

Assets	 that	 have	 an	 indefinite	 useful	 life	 are	 not	 subject	 to	 amortisation	 and	 are	 tested	 annually	 for	
impairment.	Assets	that	are	subject	to	amortisation	are	reviewed	for	impairment	whenever	events	or	changes	
in	circumstances	indicate	that	the	carrying	amount	may	not	be	recoverable.	An	impairment	loss	is	recognised	
for	the	amount	by	which	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	exceeds	its	recoverable	amount.	The	recoverable	amount	
is	the	higher	of	an	asset’s	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	and	value	in	use.	For	the	purposes	of	assessing	impairment,	
assets	are	carried	at	the	lowest	levels	for	which	there	are	separately	identifiable	cash	flows	(cash	generating	
units)

Accounting Policies (continued)
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1.3 Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue	is	recognised	when	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	
flow	to	RIRF	and	the	amounts	of	revenue	can	be	reliably	measured.

Levies
Levies	are	recognised	when	the	regulated	entities	are	invoiced	based	on	the	following:	-
	 -	 Short	Term	insurer-	1.25%	of	gross	written	premium	less	commission.
	 -	 Long	Term	Insurer-	0.07%	of	the	insurer’s	total	assets.
	 -	 Retirement	Funds-0.07%	of	total	assets.
	 -	 Brokers-1.25%	of	total	commission	received	during	the	financial	year.
	 -	 Agents-1.25%	of	total	commission	received	during	the	financial	year.

Registration fees
Revenue	arising	from	registration	fees	are	recognised	on	a	cash	basis	upon	registration.

Interest income
Interest	income	is	recognised	on	a	time-proportion	basis	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	When	a	
receivable	is	impaired,	RIRF	reduces	the	carrying	amount	to	its	recoverable	amount,	being	the	estimated	
future	cashflow	discounted	at	original	effective	interest	rate	of	the	instrument,	and	continues	unwinding	
the	discount	as	interest	income.	Interest	income	on	impaired	loans	is	recognised	either	as	cash	is	collected	
or	on	a	cost—recovery	basis	as	conditions	warrant.

1.4 Financial instruments

Initial Recognition
Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	recognised	on	the	balance	sheet	when	RIRF	has	become	party	
to	the	contractual	provisions	of	the	instruments.
Financial	instruments	recognised	in	the	balance	sheet	include:
	 -	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents
	 -	 Accounts	receivable
 - Accounts payable
	 -	 Investments
	 -	 Borrowings

Measurement
Financial	instruments	are	initially	measured	at	cost,	which	includes	transaction	costs.	Subsequent	to	initial	
recognition	these	instruments	are	measured	as	set	out	below:

Accounting Policies (continued)
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1.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
Investments
RIRF	classifies	its	investments	in	the	following	categories:	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	
loans	and	receivables,	held-to-maturity	investments,	and	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	The	classification	
depends	on	the	purpose	for	which	the	investments	were	acquired.	Management	determines	the	classification	
of	its	investments	at	initial	recognition	and	re-evaluates	this	designation	at	every	reporting	date.
 

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This	category	has	two	sub-categories:	financial	assets	held	 for	 trading,	and	those	designated	at	 fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss	at	inception.	A	financial	asset	is	classified	in	this	category	if	acquired	principally	for	the	
purpose	of	selling	in	the	short	term	or	if	so	designated	by	management.	Derivatives	are	also	categorised	as	
held	for	trading	unless	they	are	designated	as	hedges.	Assets	in	this	category	are	classified	as	current	assets	
if	they	are	either	held	for	trading	or	are	expected	to	be	realised	within	12	months	of	the	balance	sheet	date.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	
quoted	in	an	active	market.	They	arise	when	RIRF	provides	money,	goods	or	services	directly	to	a	debtor	
with	no	intention	of	trading	the	receivable.	They	are	included	in	current	assets,	except	for	maturities	greater	
than	12	months	after	the	balance	sheet	date.	These	are	classified	as	non-current	assets.	Loans	and	receivables	
are	included	in	trade	and	other	receivables	in	the	balance	sheet.

(c) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity	investments	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	and	
fixed	maturities	that	RIRF’s	management	has	the	positive	intention	and	ability	to	hold	to	maturity.	Gains	and	
losses	on	held	to	maturity	investments	are	recognized	in	equity.

(d)Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale	 financial	 assets	 are	 non-derivatives	 that	 are	 either	 designated	 in	 this	 category	 or	 not	
classified	in	any	of	the	other	categories.	They	are	included	in	non-current	assets	unless	management	intends	
to	dispose	of	the	investment	within	12	months	of	the	balance	sheet	date.

Purchases	and	sales	of	 investments	are	 recognised	on	 trade-date	—	the	date	on	which	RIRF	commits	 to	
purchase	or	 sell	 the	 asset.	 Investments	 are	 initially	 recognised	 at	 fair	 value	plus	 transaction	 costs	 for	 all	
financial	assets	not	carried	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.	Investments	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	
to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	or	have	been	transferred	and	RIRF	has	transferred	
substantially	all	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership.	Available-for-sale	financial	assets	and	financial	assets	at	fair	
value	through	profit	or	loss	are	subsequently	carried	at	fair	value.	Loans	and	receivables	and	held-to-maturity	
investments	are	carried	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method.	Realised	and	unrealised	gains	
and
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1.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
losses	 arising	 from	changes	 in	 the	 fair	 value	of	 the	 ‘financial	 assets	 at	 fair	 value	 through	profit	or	 loss’	
category	are	 included	 in	 the	 income	statement	 in	 the	period	 in	which	 they	arise.	Unrealised	gains	and	
losses	arising	from	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	non-monetary	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale	are	
recognised	in	equity.	When	securities	classified	as	available-for-sale	are	sold	or	impaired,	the	accumulated	
fair	value	adjustments	are	included	in	the	income	statement	as	gains	and	losses	from	investments	securities.

The	fair	values	of	quoted	investments	are	based	on	current	bid	prices.	If	the	market	for	a	financial	asset	
is	not	active	(and	for	unlisted	securities),	RIRF	establishes	fair	value	by	using	valuation	techniques.	These	
include	the	use	of	recent	arm’s	length	transactions,	reference	to	other	instruments	that	are	substantially	the	
same,	discounted	cashflow	analysis,	and	the	option	pricing	models	refined	to	reflect	the	issuer’s	specific	
circumstances.

RIRF	assesses	at	each	balance	 sheet	date	whether	 there	 is	objective	evidence	 that	a	financial	asset	or	a	
company	of	financial	assets	 is	 impaired.	 In	the	case	of	equity	securities	classified	as	available	 for	sale,	a	
significant	or	prolonged	decline	in	the	fair	value	of	the	security	below	its	cost	is	considered	in	determining	
whether	the	securities	are	impaired.	If	any	such	evidence	exists	for	available-for-sale	financial	assets,	the	
cumulative	loss	—	measured	as	the	difference	between	the	acquisition	cost	and	the	current	fair	value,	less	
any	impairment	loss	on	that	financial	asset	previously	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	—	is	removed	from	equity	
and	recognised	in	the	income	statement.	Impairment	losses	recognized	in	the	income	statement	on	equity	
instruments	are	not	reversed	through	the	income	statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	at	bank	and	on	hand,	and	instruments	which	are	readily	convertible	
to	known	amounts	of	cash	and	are	subject	to	insignificant	risk	of	change	in	value.
For	purposes	of	the	cashflow	statement,	cash	includes	cash	and	cash	equivalents	as	defined	above,	net	of	
bank	overdrafts,	all	of	which	are	available	for	use	by	RIRF	unless	otherwise	stated.

Trade and other receivables

Accounts	receivable	are	carried	at	anticipated	realisable	value.	An	estimate	is	made	for	doubtful	receivables	
based	on	a	review	of	all	outstanding	amounts	at	the	year	end.	Bad	debts	are	written	off	during	the	year	in	
which	they	are	identified.

Accounts payable
Accounts	payable	comprise	trade	accounts	payable	and	accruals.	These	are	measured	at	fair	cost.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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1.4 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Liabilities and provisions
RIRF	recognises	liabilities,	including	provisions,	when:
	 -	 it	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	as	a	result	of	past	events,	and
	 -	 it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required		 	
  to settle the obligation, and
	 -	 a	reliable	estimate	of	the	amount	of	the	obligation	can	be	made.

Contingent liabilities
RIRF	discloses	a	contingent	liability	where:
	 -	 it	has	a	possible	obligation	arising	from	past	events,	the	existence	of	which	will	be	confirmed		
	 	 only	by	the	occurrence	or	non	occurrence	of	one	or	more	uncertain	future		events	not	wholly		
	 	 within	the	control	of	RIRF,or
	 -	 it	is	not	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	will	be	required	to	settle	an	obligation,	or
	 -	 the	amount	of	the	obligation	cannot	be	measured	with	sufficient	reliability.

Borrowings
Borrowings	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value,	net	of	transaction	costs	incurred.	Borrowings	are	subsequently	
stated	at	amortised	cost;	any	difference	between	the	proceeds	(net	of	transaction	costs)	and	the	redemption	
value	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement	over	the	period	of	the	borrowings	using	the	effective	interest	
method.

Borrowings	are	classified	as	current	liabilities	unless	RIRF	has	an	unconditional	right	to	defer	settlement	of	
the	liability	for	at	least	12	months	after	the	balance	sheet	date.

Offset
Where	a	legally	enforceable	right	of	offset	exists	for	recognised	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities,	and	
there	is	an	intention	to	settle	the	liability	and	realise	the	asset	simultaneously,	all	related	financial	effects	are	
offset.

1.5 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current	 tax	 for	current	and	prior	periods	 is,	 to	 the	extent	unpaid,	 recognised	as	a	 liability.	 If	 the	amount	
already	paid	in	respect	of	current	and	prior	periods	exceeds	the	amount	due	for	those	periods,	the	excess	is	
recognised	as	an	asset.
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Current tax assets and liabilities (continued) 
Current	tax	liabilities	(assets)	for	the	current	and	prior	periods	are	measured	at	the	amount	expected	to	be	
paid	to	(recovered	from)	the	tax	authorities,	using	the	tax	rates	(and	tax	laws)	that	have	been	enacted	or	
substantively	enacted	by	the	balance	sheet	date.

1.6 Government grants 
Capital	based	government	grants	are	included	within	deferred	income	in	the	balance	sheet	and	credited	to	
profit	over	the	estimated	useful	economic	lives	of	the	assets	to	which	they	relate.	Revenue	based	government	
grants	are	credited	to	profit	in	the	period	in	which	the	expenditure	to	which	they	relate	is	incurred.

1.7 Leases
Where	RIRF	enters	into	a	lease	which	entails	taking	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	
of	an	asset,	the	lease	is	treated	as	a	‘finance	lease’.	The	asset	is	recorded	in	the	balance	sheet	as	a	tangible	
fixed	asset	and	is	depreciated	over	its	estimated	useful	life	or	the	term	of	lease,	which	ever	is	shorter.	Future	
installments	under	such	leases,	net	of	finance	charges,	are	included	within	creditors.	Rentals	payable	are	
apportioned	between	the	finance	element,	which	is	charged	to	the	profit	and	loss	account,	and	the	capital	
element	which	reduces	the	outstanding	obligation	for	future	installment.	All	other	leases	are	accounted	for	
as	operating	leases’	and	the	rental	charges	are	charged	to	the	profit	and	loss	account	on	a	straight	line	basis	
over	the	life	of	the	lease.

1.8 Financial risk management

Financial risk factors
RIRF	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	risks,	credit	risk,	liquidity	risk	and	cash	flow	interest	risk.
The	RIRF’s	overall	risk	management	programme	focuses	on	the	unpredictability	of	the	financial	markets	
and	seeks	to	minimise	potential	adverse	effects	on	the	financial	performance	of	the	entity. 

Risk	management	is	carried	out	under	policies	approved	by	the	registrar	of	the	office.	The	registrar	identifies,	
evaluates	 and	 hedges	 financial	 risks	 in	 cooperation	with	 the	 office’s	 operations.	The	 registrar	 provides	
written	principles	for	overall	risks	management,	as	well	as	for	specific	areas	such	as	interest	rate	risk,	credit	
risk,	and	investing	excess	liquidity.

Liquidity risk
Prudent	 liquidity	 risk	 management	 implies	 maintaining	 sufficient	 cash	 and	 marketable	 securities,	 the	
availability	of	funding	from	an	adequate	amount	of	committed	credit	facilities	and	the	ability	to	close	out	
market	positions.	The	RIRF	remains	confident	that	the	available	cash	resources	will	be	sufficient	to	meet	its	
funding	requirements.
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1.8 Financial risk management (continued) 

Credit risk
Credit	risk	arises	from	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	deposits	with	banks	and	financial	institutions,	as	well	as	
credit	exposures	to	corporate,	government	and	individual	customers,	including	outstanding	receivables	and	
committed	transactions.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The	RIRF’s	 income	and	operating	cash	flow	are	affected,	but	not	 to	a	significant	extent,	by	changes	 in	 the	
market	interest	rates.

Fair value estimation
The	nominal	value	less	impairment	provision	of	trade	payables	and	receivables	are	assumed	to	approximate	
their	 fair	 values.	The	 fair	 value	 of	 financial	 liabilities	 for	 disclosure	 purposes	 is	 estimated	 by	 discounting	
the	future	contractual	cash	flows	at	the	current	market	interest	rate	receivable	to	RIRF	for	similar	financial	
instruments.

1.9 Employee benefits

Provident Fund Obligations
The	RIRF	Provident	Fund	is	a	defined	contribution	plan.	For	defined	contribution	plans	RIRF	pays	contributions	
to	publicity	or	privately	administered	pension	insurance	plans	on	a	mandatory,	contractual,	or	voluntary	basis.

Once	the	contributions	have	been	paid,	RIRF	has	no	further	payment	obligations.	The	regular	contributions	
constitute	net	periodic	costs	for	the	year	in	which	they	are	due,	and	as	such	are	included	in	staff	costs.

Terminal Benefits
Termination	 benefits	 are	 payable	 whenever	 an	 employee’s	 employment	 is	 terminated	 before	 the	 normal	
retirement	date	or	whenever	an	employee	accepts	voluntary	redundancy	in	exchange	for	these	benefits.

RIRF	recognises	termination	benefits	when	it	is	demonstrably	committed	either	to	terminate	the	employment	
of	 current	 employees	 according	 to	 a	 detailed	 formal	 plan	without	 possibility	 of	withdrawal	 or	 to	 provide	
termination	benefits	as	a	result	of	an	offer	made	to	encourage	voluntary	redundancy.

1.10 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment	in	which	RIRF	operates	(“the	functional	currency”).	The	financial	statements	are	presented	in	
Emalangeni	(“E”),	which	is	the	functional	and	presentation	currency	of	RIRF.

1.11 Comparative figures
Where	necessary	comparative	figures	have	been	restated	to	conform	to	the	current	reporting	format.
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Figures in Emalangeni      2009  2008

2. Operating profit

Operating	profit	for	the	year	is	stated	after	accounting	for	the	following:

Auditors’ remuneration
-Auditors fees      55,000  50,000
-Under	provision	in	the	prior	year		 	 	 	 	 10,700  -
-Other fees      7,700  -
     73,400  50,000
Operating lease charges
Premises
- Contractual amounts      402,870		 261,886
Insurance	Board	Fees		 	 	 	 	 372,505		 666,169
Depreciation	on	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 	 327,536		 226,872
Employee	costs(	Note	10)      5,085,651		 4,169,401

3. Property, plant and equipment
  2009		 	 	 2008

 Cost /   Accumulated   Carrying		 Cost/		Accumulated		 Carrying	
 Valuation    depreciation value	 Valuation	 depreciation	 value
Furniture	and	fixtures		 1,751,946  (244,568)  1,507,378		 1,174,201		 (109,144)		 1,065,057
Office	equipment		 352,140  (46,581)  305,559		 263,772		 (16,307)		 247,465
IT	equipment		 415,358  (225,314)  190,044		 362,529		 (101,422)		 261,107
Total  2,519,444  (516,463)  2,002,981		 1,800,502		 (226,873)		 1,573,629

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2009
  Opening Additions Disposals Depreciation Total
	 	 Balance
Furniture	and	fixtures		 	 1,065,057  774,920  (164,313)  (168,286)  1,507,378
Office	equipment		 	 247,465  88,368  -  (30,274)  305,559
IT	equipment		 	 261,107  67,529  (9,617)  (128,975)  190,044
  1,573,629  930,817  (173,930)  (327,535)  2,002,981

4. Trade and other receivables

Government	of	Swaziland(4th	quarter	subvention)		 	 	 	 1,375,000  -
Rent deposit      42,980  -
Staff	loans		 	 	 	 	 158,304 	 276,805
     1,576,284  276,805

5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	consist	of:
Cash on hand      4,000  7,500
Standard	Bank	Swaziland	Limited		 	 	 	 	 939,855		 1,103,031
Swaziland	Building	Society-Gold	Account		 	 	 	 20,473  -
Stanlib/Liberty	Life	Swaziland		 	 	 	 	 11,548,600		 5,072,463

Notes to the Financial Statements

Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds 57



Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds

The Office of the Registrar of Insurance and Retirement Funds
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2009

58

Figures in Emalangeni      2009  2008

5. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

First	National	Bank	of	Swaziland		 	 	 	 	 160,297 	 9,910

     12,673,225  6,192,904

6. Guaranteed fund

Guaranteed fund      20,473  -

This represents funds in respect of amounts being held in accordance

with	section	41(f )	of	the	Insurance	Act.

7. Deferred grant income
This	represents	Government	subvention	earmarked	for	future
activities	for	the	fund.

Balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year		 	 	 	 	 7,141,429  -

Deferred	government	grant	for	the	year		 	 	 	 	 4,000,000 	 7,141,429

     11,141,429  7,141,429

8. Trade and other payables

Trade payables      410,813 	 180,426

Accrued audit fees      62,700  50,000

     473,513  230,426

9. Commitments
During	the	year,	November	2007,	RIRF	entered	into	an	operating	lease	agreement
with	the	Public	Service	Pension	Fund.	Operating	rentals	amount	to	E42,	980	
per	month	with	an	annual	fixed	escalation	rate	of	10%.

10 . Employee costs

The	average	number	of	employees	during	the	year	was	15(2008:13)

Salaries     4,737,917	 3,895,268

Other benefits     347,734	 274,133

     5,085,651  4,169,401

11. Cash generated from operations

Profit	before	taxation		 	 	 	 	 3,945,592 	 671,483
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation      327,536 	 226,872
Changes in working capital:
Trade	and	other	receivables		 	 	 	  (1,299,479) 	 (276,805)
Trade and other payables      243,087  230,425

     3,216,735  851,975
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Figures	in	Emalangeni		 	 	 	 Note(s)		 2009  2008
Revenue
Government	grants		 	 	 	 	 5,500,000 	 15,000,000
Registration fees      478,780		 325,810
Interest	received		 	 	 	 	 1,176,581		 345,672
Levies	fee		 	 	 	 	 10,068,752  -
Sundry income      15,996  -
     17,240,109  15,671,482
Operating expenses
Accounting fees      3,559  34,200
Advertising		 	 	 	 	 275,865		 153,229
Auditors remuneration      73,400  50,000
Bank	charges	and	interest	paid	 	 	 	 	 51,950		 25,578
Insurance	&	retirement	funds	board	fees	and	expenses			 	 	 372,505		 666,169
Cleaning      19,386		 11,033
Computer	expenses		 	 	 	 	 1,768		 95,692
Consulting and professional fees      505,133 	 731,290
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments     327,536		 226,872
Employee	costs		 	 	 	 	 5,085,651		 4,169,401
Entertainment		 	 	 	 	 3,658 	 13,335
Loss	on	sale	of	non	current	asset		 	 	 	 	 64,155  -
Internet	expenses		 	 	 	 	 266,965		 53,143
Insurance      207,164 	 71,257
Lease	rentals	on	operating	lease		 	 	 	 	 402,870		 261,886
Legal	expenses		 	 	 	 	 39,000		 4,660
Office	expenses		 	 	 	 	 12,791		 17,752
Postage		 	 	 	 	 4,918		 2,738
Printing	and	stationery		 	 	 	 	 216,073		 211,145
Promotions		 	 	 	 	 93,652		 87,767
Repairs and maintenance      57,029		 890
Staff	welfare		 	 	 	 	 26,443  740
Subscriptions      163,280		 264,099
Telephone	and	fax		 	 	 	 	 170,457		 171,323
Training      361,086		 213,376
Travel	-	local		 	 	 	 	 32,254		 37,144
Travel	-	international		 	 	 	 	 425,459		 272,656
Utilities		 	 	 	 	 30,510		 11,195
     9,294,517  7,858,570
Operating profit     2  7,945,592 	 7,812,912
Deferred	government	grant		 	 	 	 	 (4,000,000)		 	(7,141,429)
Profit for the year      3,945,592  671,483

Detailed Income statement
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Net	income	per	income	statement		 	 	 	 	 	 3,945,592

Temporary differences

Less:	Government	grant		 	 	 	 	 	 (1,500,000)

Taxable	income	for	2009		 	 	 	 	 	 2,445,592

Assessed	loss	brought	forward		 	 	 	 	 	 (3,912,979)

Tax loss carried forward       (1,467,387)

Tax Computation
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